

Comparing fine-scale temporal environmental DNA (eDNA) sampling to camera trapping for detecting mammalian carnivores

By Polly Louise Bolton

I hereby declare that the following dissertation is entirely my own work and has not been submitted,

in whole or in part, for any award at this or any other academic institution.

SIGNED

(HS)

Contents

Abstract
1. Introduction
1.1 Mammalian species decline6
1.2 Traditional monitoring methods for mammals7
1.3 eDNA Metabarcoding9
1.4 eDNA and carnivores12
1.5 Occupancy modelling14
1.6 Mammals in Spain14
1.7 Carnivores in Spain15
1.8 Sampling area, aims and collaboration16
2. Materials and methods
2.1 Study area
2.2 eDNA field sampling19
2.3 Camera Traps
2.4 eDNA extraction
2.5 Bioinformatics analysis23
2.6 Statistical analysis
3. Results
3.1 eDNA species detection and filtered reads26
3.2 Camera trap species detection
3.3 Carnivore species detection
3.4 Carnivore occupancy and detection probability
4. Discussion
4.1 Mammalian community presence and absence41
4.2 Carnivore community presence and absence44
4.3 Carnivore occupancy modelling49
5. Conclusion and future suggestions
Acknowledgements
References

Figure 1. Arial map of the study site in north-eastern Spain with the five UTM sample sites. Bottom
left map shows the area of Spain where the study was conducted18
Figure 2. Collaborator Andrew Harrington collecting a water sample with a 500ml sterile bottle at one
of the sampling sites in Spain19
Figure 3. Maps of the 5 UTM squares with the 5 rivers sampled. A) UTM square 1, rivers Tiron, Ea-
Tiron and Oja. B) UTM square 2, rivers Ebro and Zadorra. C) UTM square 3, rivers Ebro and Najerilla D)
UTM square 4, rivers Balsa channel, Alegria and Zadorra Lbaia. E) UTM square 5, river Leza21
Figure 4. Species detection per sampling site using eDNA metabarcoding from sampling session one
(pink) and sampling session two (blue)29
Figure 5. Species accumulation curve for all mammalian species identified using eDNA at each site.30
Figure 6. Bubble chart of eDNA sequence reads of identified carnivore species from both sampling
sessions. Sampling sites 1-5 are withing UTM1, site $6-10$ are withing UTM2, sites $11-15$ are withing
UTM3, sites 16 – 20 are within UTM 4 and sites 21 – 25 are within UTM5
Figure 7. Venn diagram showing carnivore species detected using the different detection methods,
eDNA and Camera trap34
Figure 8. Group of images of carnivores identified in the sampling area in Spain. A) European mink,
Mustela lutreola E) Genet, Genetta servaline C) European mink, Mustela lutreola D) Eurasian otter,
Lutra lutra
Figure 9. Species detection per sampling site using eDNA metabarcoding results from the combined
sampling sessions equalling 10 replicates (green) and 10 days of camera traps (purple)37
Figure 10. A) eDNA and camera trap species accumulation curves for Carnivore species B) eDNA, CT
and combined sampling for carnivore species

Table 1. List of carnivores found in Spain with their IUCN status and EU conservation status of described species in Spain. Unknown; no assessment can be made, Bad; species is not viable longterm, Poor; not as critical as bad but still requires conservation, Good; species is viable and self-Table 2. Number of reads after each filtering step to remove percentage of potential tag-switching, Table 3. Species detected using eDNA over two sampling periods. 1 is given if the species is detected in at least one out of the replicates taken, 0 is given if the species is undetected. IUCN status (LC = Least concern, NT = near threatened, VU = vulnerable, CR = critically endangered)......28
 Table 4. Species detected from 10 days of camera trap recording within the 5 UTM squares. 1 is given
 if the species is detected in at least one of the 10 days in each UTM square, 0 is given if the species is undetected. Unsure mink is a category created when the mink species could not be determined....33 Table 5. Estimated site occupancy and detection probabilities for each carnivore species, with 95% confidence intervals, from eDNA metabarcoding data from the total 10 replicates from each of the 25 sites and 10 days of camera trap data, individual and combined, created using unmarked (Fiske &

Abstract

Anthropogenic pressures have caused global species declines, making accurate biodiversity monitoring essential in providing data to help avert extinctions. One-fifth of mammalian species globally are classed as under threat which means a rapid, reliable, and inexpensive monitoring method could help streamline conservation management decisions by following patterns or species dips/increases in the data. As many monitoring techniques are invasive or destructive, a non-invasive technique would reduce direct handling and stress to the animals. Environmental DNA (eDNA) has emerged as a cost-effective, non-invasive, and efficient biodiversity monitoring method which has been used for both aquatic and terrestrial species. Previous mammalian eDNA-based studies have effectively detected terrestrial and semi-aquatic mammals and compared favourably to camera trap results. However, carnivores are one of the more problematic groups regarding eDNA detections. In this study, the validity of semi-aquatic and terrestrial mammalian detection via eDNA was investigated within the north-eastern region of Spain by comparing eDNA metabarcoding to camera trap data at 25 sites along five rivers. Two eDNA sampling events were carried out 10 days apart to see if short term temporal sampling would validate results. 24 species were detected overall from the eDNA samples from five different orders, 22 species were detected in the second sampling period whereas only 18 were detected in the first sampling period. Camera traps were set to run for 10 days between the first eDNA sampling session till the second.

Species richness was noticeably higher when combining the samples. Six species of carnivores were detected with eDNA and seven by the camera traps, with five species overlapping. All six carnivores were detected in the second sampling period with only four detected in the first. Detection probabilities (using occupancy modelling) were largely similar for carnivores when using eDNA and camera traps. The successful detection of multiple carnivores within this study has shown how temporal eDNA sampling can provide rich and robust presence-absence data which aligns with traditional methods.

1. Introduction

1.1 Mammalian species decline

With an estimated 28% of globally assessed species threatened with extinction, robust and reliable biodiversity monitoring methods are more crucial than ever (IUCN, 2021). There is an estimated range from 5475 to 6399 extant mammal species globally according to the IUCN and 2018 Mammal Diversity Database respectively (Burgin et al., 2018). Mammals are under threat from factors such as pollution (Temple and Terry, 2007), climate change (Maiorano et al., 2013), human population growth (Avila, Kaschner & Dormann, 2018), invasive species (Duenas et al., 2021), habitat loss and hunting (Brodie, Williams & Garner, 2021). Due to the increased mammalian extinction risk, there is an urgency to develop reliable and accurate non-invasive biomonitoring techniques that can contribute towards both creation and implementation of conservation policy (Sales et al., 2020a). Global concern regarding species decline has led to politically agreed international targets to reduce rapid loss such as the Convention on Biological Diversity's Aichi Targets (Convention on Biological Diversity, 2021). However, due to deficiencies in some nations' biological assessments and a consequent lack of legislative response, biodiversity declines are not being addressed appropriately (Collen et al., 2013). Long term monitoring of populations is crucial in detecting early signs of species decline and potential extinctions and should allow optimal time for conservation management practitioners optimal time for intervention (Lindenmayer et al., 2012). Funding is often a large hurdle for extensive monitoring systems, one solution is the use of citizen scientists who volunteer to collect data which would allow for a greater abundance of information collected (Biggs et al., 2015). However, appropriate measurements should be taken to ensure correct and standardised monitoring and reporting as the quality of the data needs to be analysed for trends and its potential to be used for decision making (Chandler et al., 2017; Lindenmayer et al., 2012).

1.2 Traditional monitoring methods for mammals

Monitoring methods we term as 'traditional' often focus on the detection of single or multiple similarly sized species (Wearn & Glover-Kapfer et al., 2019). Terrestrial mammals are traditionally monitored through camera traps (Cutler & Swann, 1999), track identification (Franklin et al., 2018), live traps (Blair, 1941), hair traps (Chiron et al., 2018) or scat identification (Birks et al., 2005). These methods are usually species or size specific so are unable to record data on whole communities simultaneously. The exception to this is camera traps which are successfully and widely used for biodiversity research due to their ability to record multiple species at once (Wearn & Glover-Kapfer et al., 2019). Live trapping is one of the more invasive monitoring methods which brings a level of risk to both researcher and animal during handling, especially in large and dangerous species (Sheils et al., 2018). Therefore, it is not always ideal for larger mammals but can be used for smaller mammals. However, mortality rates in small mammals are particularly elevated due to high metabolic rates leading to starvation, as seen commonly in shrews (Do, Shonfield and McAdam, 2013) or due to predation of the trapped animal (Evrard and Bacon, 1998). Animal handling may also require permits making it a potentially expensive and labour-intensive monitoring method which is often only 'single-catch', meaning it can only be utilised on select species (Sheils et al., 2018; Wearn and Glover-Kapfer et al., 2019). Live trapping allows for a more accurate species identification that may be missed by other methods, such as distinguishable species identifiers, and researchers can take samples, mark with dye or collard rings, or GPS radio-tag individuals for population-level research (Sheils et al., 2018; Wearn & Glover-Kapfer et al., 2019). It has been shown that behaviour can influence individuals who are captured, animals in poor body condition are more likely to enter traps for bait, and to achieve unbiased results it is best to use more than one live trapping method (Bisi et al., 2011).

One method of non-invasive biodiversity monitoring comes from field cues. Field cues can be animal tracks, hair traps or scat identification. Animal tracks being footprints or distinctive marks left by individual species, hair traps are sticky materials left in a study area to catch hair or fur from a passing

animal and scat identification is using faeces to identify a species, this method is commonly used for carnivore identification.

These methods come with a high degree of misidentification, even to specialists, which can have large impacts on the accuracy of data. Similarly, species may not be identified due to not being detected within the study area, however this problem will arise with most sampling techniques. Carnivore monitoring studies have reported difficulty with identifying scat (Grimm-Seyfarth et al., 2019) due to similarity in morphology and, in the case of the Eurasian otter (Lutra lutra) and American mink (Neovison vison) scat, similarity in diet. Human error rates in scat identification have been shown to vary from 14% (Red fox Vulpes vulpes) to 88% (wildcats Felis silvestris) when comparing human identification to DNA sequencing (Monterroso et al., 2013). Harrington et al. (2010) emphasises the usefulness of DNA sequencing for accurate species identification after false positives of presence of North American mink (*Neovison vison*) via scat were later shown to be left by other carnivores using DNA sequencing of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA). Grimm-Seyfarth (2019) reported success in sniffer dogs differentiating between otter and mink scat at a 95% success rate in a laboratory setting. There has been some reported success in conservation dogs detecting scat from koalas (Phascolarctos cinereus; Cristescu et al., 2015), tigers (Panthera tigris; Kerley, 2010), black bears (Ursus americanus), fishers (Martes pennanti) and bobcats (Lynx rufus; Long et al., 2007). Although the results for using trained domestic dogs for species detections looks promising there is some reservations over training guidelines and appropriate canine selection due to the lack of literature (Beebe et al., 2016). Despite the early promise of detection dogs' further studies surrounding costs, surveying techniques, canine selection and training and detection type could further promote and help future researchers (Bennett, Hauser and Moore, 2020).

Hair traps are often one of the more favourable non-invasive monitoring techniques due to the low cost-effort ratio and availability of over-the-counter materials (Castro-Arellano et al., 2008). As DNA

can be extracted from hair, this can ensure correct identification can be collected from this noninvasive technique (Browett et al., 2020).

In the early 1900s the first "trap camera" was used to capture wildlife by George Shiras III, since then camera traps have firmly remained as one of the more popular biodiversity monitoring 'traditional' methods when compared to the others (Sanderson & Trolle, 2005; Wearn et al., 2019). Most traditional methods can be labour intensive in both set up and analysis, camera traps can present further problems such as malfunctions and unclear pictures for species identification, they have positive trade-offs such as the ability to provide a broad spectrum for biodiversity studies due to the 'multi-catch' ability, recording multiple species at once (Davis et al., 2018; Wearn et al., 2019). This allows researchers to build occupancy models based of presence and absence data, including the presence or absence of invasive species which would allow for management decisions (Davies et al., 2018). Camera trap images can provide researchers with a broad data set from the animals such as distinct markings, age, measurements, and group sizes. Camera traps have been successful in estimating abundance in tigers Panthera tigris where unique markings can differentiate individuals (Karanth, 1995). Camera trapping's simplistic methodology allow for standardised repeatability added to the low costs, making this method popular for capturing mammalian communities (Cove et al., 2021), although camera trap studies only capture portions of heterogenous landscapes and can often miss smaller species meaning alternative methods will have to be used to monitor small mammals (Harper et al., 2019; Leempoel et al., 2020). These traditional methods are widely used for terrestrial and semi-aquatic species.

1.3 eDNA Metabarcoding

Environmental DNA (referred to as eDNA) is a relatively new concept that is defined as DNA shed from individuals (present in skin cells, urine, blood, faeces, saliva, etc...) that has been left behind in the environment, both modern and ancient (Pawlowski et al., 2020; Thomsen & Willerslev, 2015; Deiner

et al., 2017, Taberlet et al., 2012, Ficetola et al., 2008). eDNA is defined as DNA extracted from the environment, not from obvious biological material, such as faecal, blood and saliva samples, which are not defined as eDNA (Thomsen and Willerslev, 2015). eDNA studies have been able to detect both extant and extinct species which allows for both monitoring current biodiversity and gain information on past communities (Thomsen & Willerslev, 2015). Pawlowski et al. (2020) explain how eDNA should be defined with a 'two-level terminology' that will describe the methodology used and target taxa. The first level would provide information of how and where the DNA is extracted from: water eDNA, sediment eDNA, air eDNA and soil eDNA. The second level would provide information of the target taxonomic group that is to be amplified and sequenced: fish eDNA, invertebrate eDNA, bacteria eDNA, mammal eDNA, ect. For this study water eDNA was collected to identify mammalian eDNA. The focus for the application of eDNA has largely been on the detection of aquatic species, native and invasive, due to the direct shedding of DNA in the water environment making it simple to collect in theoretical comparison to terrestrial species (Rees et al., 2014; Takahara, Minamoto & Doi, 2013). These early studies were successful in detecting invasive aquatic species in fish, Lepomis macrochirus, (Takhara et al., 2013), reptiles, Python bivittatus (Piaggio et al., 2013) and amphibians, Lithobates catesbeianus (Dejean et al., 2012). The sensitivity of eDNA meant species of conservation interest were also being detected using eDNA when traditional methods were failing to do so which can allow for conservation decisions to be made quickly for invasive species or species of conservation concern (Thomsen et al., 2012). DNA has been shown to persist ~two weeks in laboratory settings and 48 hours to one month in aquatic and marine environments (Ficetola et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2018; Collins et al., 2018).

eDNA studies originated by focusing on detection of single species by using species-specific primers (Hunter et al., 2015; Dejean et al., 2015; Ficetola et al., 2008), however the use of universal primers, such as MiFish (Miya et al., 2015) and MiMammal (Ushio et al., 2017), allows for multi-species detection, expanding the value of eDNA (Seymour, 2019). eDNA metabarcoding is a molecular biodiversity monitoring technique that can successfully detect multiple species at once from DNA extracted from water, soil, air or from blood-sucking insects (the latter referred to as iDNA) using next-

generation sequencing (NGS) (Deiner et al., 2017; Pawlowski et al., 2020). NGS is a high throughput, low-cost, multi-sample sequencing technology which compared to real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) is highly beneficial to community studies as NGS does not require specific primers for species detection (Liu et al., 2012).

For biological biodiversity monitoring the use of eDNA has been established as a cost effective and rapid methodology. With most early eDNA research focusing on aquatic species due to the evident DNA presence within the water systems (McDevitt et al., 2019), research into semi-aquatic and terrestrial mammals are yielding promising results on multiple taxa identification as well as detection for rare, elusive, and invasive species (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020a; Sales et al., 2020b; Leempoel et al., 2020; Harper et al; 2019; Lyet et al., 2021, Kim et al., 2020; Ushio et al., 2017). Due to the regularity of mammal species' contact with water, DNA will be captured in water samples. This has also been found to be true for animals which do not regularly contact water sites (Williams et al., 2018, Sales et al., 2020a, Broadhurst et al., 2021). Semi-aquatic animals will obviously spend longer amounts of time within the water and have a significantly higher chance of being detected (Harper et al., 2019). Despite successful semi-aquatic and terrestrial mammalian species detection using water eDNA there is a possibility of missing species with one time sampling therefore a 'multi sampling approach' has been recommended to accurately detect species with behaviours or life stages which might cause them to be missed by the first sampling session (Ficetola et al., 2008; Thomsen et al., 2012). A 'multi sampling approach' would see researchers sample temporally, either seasonally or yearly, to be able to follow population trends and record elusive species that may have been missed due to breeding, distance, or absence during a sampling time. This recommendation of temporal or 'multi sampling approach' has been similarly mirrored in mammalian eDNA studies, more recent studies have been providing reliable results from water samples to successfully detect semi-aquatic and terrestrial mammals but an emphasis on multi sampling is imperative due to species' behaviour and ecologies (Sales et al., 2020a; Sales et al., 2020b; Ushio et al., 2017; Harper et al., 2019; Leempoel et al., 2020; Lyet et al; 2021). Using eDNA to determine the abundance of a species has been used

(Thomsen et al., 2012), however both false positives (contamination) and false negatives (species masking and incomplete databases) may occur (Lodge et el., 2012; Roussel et al., 2015).

Animal behaviour, habitat preference and group size may also affect sequence/read count. Animals with large mass have been seen to have higher DNA read counts as it is hypothesised that large mass (as seen with Bears) will equal more DNA shed (Lyet et al., 2021). Group size can also affect DNA degradation rates so species can be detected for longer (Williams et al., 2018). Though, the consensus regarding DNA degradation rates is that positive detections of species indicate recent shedding from an animal, rather than DNA that has been in the environment for a while, thus implying that eDNA can detect invasive or rare species much earlier than some traditional methods (Williams et al., 2019; Thomsen et al., 2012). DNA degradation is a topic widely discussed by eDNA researchers based on laboratory experiments following degradation of cells in ~2 weeks (Williams et al., 2018; Thomsen et al., 2012) but fail to account for uncontrolled factors. Three broad categories of DNA degradation in environments have been described: DNA molecule characteristics, abiotic factors, and biotic factors (Barnes et al., 2014). The length of a DNA fragment can affect its binding ability to other particles which would extend its life (Romanowski et al., 1993). Abiotic factors such as UV (Sutter & Kinziger, 2019), temperature, pH (Seymour et al., 2018), oxygen levels and salinity can also affect DNA degradation rates. High temperatures can denature the molecule and UV light can also increase degradation rate (Barnes et al., 2014; Kessler et al., 2020).

1.4 eDNA and carnivores

Despite mammalian detections with eDNA being successful, studies often have low detections and/or sequence reads from carnivorous mammals (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Lyet et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020; Harper et al., 2019). This could be due to inability of the primers to amplify certain carnivorous species, for example a bear specific primer (MiMammal-B) was used to ensure bear amplification due ineffective amplification using MiMammal seen in a preliminary study (Ushio et al., 2017). There is a

lack of research into carnivore specific eDNA studies, most studies using 'eDNA' are taking DNA directly from a known source (footprint and saliva) and not from the environment (Franklin et al., 2018; Wheat et al., 2018), or are species specific (Rodgers et al., 2015; Wilcox et al., 2021). Although successful, these studies are using single-species PCR to amplify the DNA, so we are unable to contribute towards understanding why metabarcoding studies are detecting low frequencies of carnivore sequences.

Otters are one such species that is frequently missed (cases of false negatives have been reported; Sales et al., 2020a; Harper et al., 2019; Thomsen et al., 2012). Lyet et al. (2021) also report difficulty in detecting carnivores, specifically felids. Carnivores with strict carnivorous diets (felids) had a lower detection rate than more omnivorous carnivores such as mustelids and canids, although it is theorised the results may vary in different seasons depending on what food is more available. Lyet et al. (2021) recorded higher eDNA detection rates for bears, which correlates with the omnivorous diet and body size. Both semi-aquatic and terrestrial carnivores are being detected meaning that DNA from carnivores who infrequently come in contact with the water is being identified with studies further demonstrating eDNA ability to reflect terrestrial communities (Broadhurst et al., 2021).

As there have been difficulties in detecting carnivores in some mammalian eDNA research, Lyet et al. (2021) suggest higher volume of water would be needed to successfully detect all species in the environment, however this would increase overall costs. Traditional methods frequently outperformed eDNA when focusing on carnivores: this could be due to most carnivores living solitary lives with large home ranges (Broadhurst et al., 2021). We would assume semi-aquatic carnivores to have large amount of sequence reads when using eDNA, but otter has frequently been recorded on camera traps with low or non-existent reads being detected from water samples (Sales et al., 2020a; Harper et al., 2019; Thomsen et al., 2012).

1.5 Occupancy modelling

As all monitoring methods are not able to accurately detect all species all the time, occupancy models are a useful approach to account for imperfect detections to provide species distribution probabilities (Mackenzie et al., 2002). Rare, elusive, and threatened species which reside in small populations may only be detected a small handful of times when using any monitoring method. Occupancy modelling has been successful in monitoring populations of the vulnerable sloth bear, *Melursus ursinus* in India (Das et al., 2014) and lemurs in Madagascan forests, traditionally difficult areas to monitor species, (Keane et al., 2012) and identify areas for conservation for the critically endangered Balkan lynx, *Lynx lynx balcanicus* (Melovski et al., 2020). Occupancy modelling can provide valuable information on population trends and areas in need of focus for endangered species. By accounting for imperfect detection this prevents underrepresentation of species presence that can bias the relationship between species occurrence and habitat variables which in turn can influence conservation managers decisions to help streamline legislation and funds, which are lacking within conservation (Lindermayer et al., 2012; MacKenzie et al., 2006).

Similarly, to other traditional monitoring methods, eDNA presence and absence data can be used to estimate detection probabilities of each species (Sales et al., 2020a). The high sensitivity of eDNA detections when compared to traditional methods can improve detection probabilities and site occupancy estimates, thus increasing focused conservation efficiency (Schmelzle et al., 2016; Schmidt et al., 2013).

1.6 Mammals in Spain

111 recorded species of mammals reside in Spain comprising 48% of all verified mammals within Europe (IUCN, 2013). The orders found in Spain are Rodentia, Lagomorpha, Erinaceomorpha, Soricomorpha, Chiroptera, Cetacea, Carnivora and Artiodactyl. 11% of these species are considered Near Threatened (NT), 9% are Vulnerable (V), 4% are Endangered (EN) and 3% are Critically

Endangered (CR) (IUCN, 2013). The biggest threat to native mammals in Spain is invasive species. 22 vertebrate species have been identified within the Iberian Peninsula as invasive, with mammal species making up 8.51% of them (Capdevila-Argüelles and Zilletti, 2001).

1.7 Carnivores in Spain

There are four threatened carnivorous species in Spain: the Iberian lynx, Lynx pardinus (EN) (Rodríguez and Calzada, 2015), Iberian grey wolf, Canis lupus signatus (V), Eurasian otter, Lutra lutra (NT) (Roos et al., 2015) and European mink, Mustela lutreola (CR) (Maran et al., 2016). There are 17 carnivorous species found in Spain (Table 1). It is difficult to have a true positive detection for wolves due to the similarity in the genetic sequence between wolves and domestic dogs, Canis lupus familiaris. The reported hybridisation between C. lupus familiaris and C. lupus signatus within the Iberian Peninsula adds another level of difficulty distinguishing the species due to the exchange in gene flow (Pires et al., 2017). Despite the initial challenges in detecting wolves there has been successful eDNA detection of other carnivorous mammalians: raccoons (Procyon lotor, Leempoel et al., 2019), mink (Neovison vison and Mustela lutreola), badgers (Meles meles), foxes (Vulpes vulpes, Broadhurst et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020a) and felids (Lyet et al., 2021) which are all species that occur within Spain. The American mink (Neovison vison) is an invasive carnivore introduced to Europe in the 1920s during the fur industry boom. Feral populations were formed from escapees and intentional release (Podra and Gomez, 2017). Since then, N. vison has become a major competitor to the native mink, M. lutreola. N. vison is a generalist carnivore who predates on similar prey to M. lutreola, which has led to competitive exclusion (Santulli et al., 2014). Early detection is a main strategy for control of alien species, if eDNA is successful at detecting carnivorous species it could become a powerful tool for eradication programs (Bonesi and Palazon, 2017). As discussed already traditional methods have a high chance of misidentification so eradication programs not utilising DNA sequencing can be costly and unnecessary (Browett et al., 2020). A study into released M. lutreola found that predation accounted for 76% of mortalities which likely came from one lone male N. vison. This shows the disastrous consequences N.

vison can have on *M. lutreola* reintroduction programmes. Therefore, early detections using DNA would be important for recovery programmes and will allow for eradication efforts to start before a population has been established (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Põdra et al., 2013). *M. lutreola* is a specialised hunter and is already experiencing pressures from climate change, habitat destruction and declines in prey (e.g., crayfish (*Astacus astacus*); Maran and Henttonen, 1995; Maran et al., 2011).

Table 1. List of carnivores found in Spain with their IUCN status and EU conservation status of describedspecies in Spain.Unknown; no assessment can be made, Bad; species is not viable long-term, Poor; not ascritical as bad but still requires conservation, Good; species is viable and self-maintaining.

Species	Common name	IUCN	EU conservation	IUCN Author
		status	status	
Felis silvestris	European wildcat	EN	Unknown	Yamaguchi et al., 2015
Lynx pardinus	Iberian lynx	EN	Poor	Rodríguez & Calzada 2015.
Genetta genetta	Common genet	LC	Good	Herrero & Cavallini, 2007
Herpestes ichneumon	Egyptian mongoose	LC	Good	Do Linh San et al., 2016
Canis lupus signatus	Iberian wolf	LC	Poor	Boitani et al., 2018
Vulpes vulpes	Red fox	LC	-	Hoffmann & Sillero-Zubiri, 2021
Ursus arctos arctos	Cantabrian b. bear	LC	Poor	McLellan et al., 2018
Procyon lotor	Raccoon	LC	-	Timm et al., 2016
Lutra lutra	Eurasian otter	NT	Good	Roos et al., 2015
Martes foina	Beech marten	LC	-	Abramov et al., 2016
Martes martes	European pine	LC	Poor	Herrero et al., 2016
	marten			
Meles meles	Eurasian badger	LC	-	Kranz et al., 2016
Mustela erminea	Stoat	LC	-	Reid, Helgen & Kranz, 2016
Mustela lutreola	European mink	CR	Bad	Maran et al., 2016
Mustela nivalis	Least weasel	LC	-	McDonald et al., 2019
Mustela putorius	European polecat	LC	Good	Skumatov et al., 2016
Neovison vison	American mink	LC	-	Reid, Schiaffini & Schipper, 2016

1.8 Sampling area, aims and collaboration

For this study, a collaboration was established between the McDevitt lab group from the University of Salford, the Vincent Wildlife Trust (VWT) and WildCRU (University of Oxford) to create a comparative study of monitoring methods (eDNA metabarcoding and camera traps) when monitoring native European mink (*M. lutreola*) and the invasive American mink (*N. vison*) in a north-eastern area of Spain. To test both the validity and accuracy of eDNA metabarcoding, a direct comparison was made

to camera traps that were set up at the same sampling locations. 10 days of camera trap data was compared to 10 eDNA samples from each site, which also contributed to evaluating the effort needed to accurately represent mammalian communities when using eDNA within a temporal study. The eDNA samples were taken over two sampling periods, 10 days apart, which was supposed to give more validity to our occupancy modelling and account for animals that may be missed in one sampling session but is present in the area following a small-scale version of the multi sampling approach (Ficetola et al., 2008). Despite VWT specifically looking for both mink species, the samples taken allowed for a broader comparative study in detecting and comparing the wider mammalian community using eDNA and camera traps. This study focused on mammalian carnivores (due to the difficulty in detecting them using eDNA as outlined above) based on the total 17 carnivores found in Spain (Table 1).

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Study area

This study was run in conjunction with the VWT and WildCRU in the north-eastern area of Spain. The sampling area was split in to five 10 x 10 km squares, based on the Universal Transverse Mercator grid reference system, hereby known as UTM squares, with 5 points being sampled within each UTM square, 25 sites in total (Figure 1.). Sampling was conducted with 10 different rivers within the UTM sites. UTM1 consisted of rivers Tiron, Ea-Tiron and Oja, UTM2 consisted of Ebro and Zadorra, UTM3 rivers were Ebro and Najerilla, UTM4 consisted of rivers Balsa Channel, Zadorra Lbaia and Algeria with UTM5 only consisting of river Leza. Five samples will also be taken from an undisclosed mink enclosure to be used as positive controls.



Figure 1. Arial map of the study site in north-eastern Spain with the five UTM sample sites. Bottom left map shows the area of Spain where the study was conducted. Maps created with QGIS 2020.

2.2 eDNA field sampling

Fieldwork was conducted by the VWT from 14th of October to the 28th of October 2019 for a study of *M. lutreola* detection. Each UTM square was sampled twice, starting on the 14th of October 2019 and the repeated 10 days later. Water samples were collected using 500ml sterile bottles, with 5 replicates taken at each site 5-10 meters from each other, following the protocol defined in Broadhurst et al. (2021) (Figure 2). Samples were collected at the water's edge, avoiding touching water apart from a sterile, gloved hand of the researcher. No abiotic factors were recorded for this study; however, it was noted that there was heavy rainfall between the two sampling sessions. At the beginning and end of each day a 500ml bottle of distilled water was opened for 30 seconds and then filtered, to be used as a field blank which can account for any contamination. The samples were collected and filtered in the field, using 0.45µm Sterivex filters, then refrigerated for 2 days before freezing in Spain. Frozen samples were sent to the University of Salford in cool boxes packed with ice to be extracted in a specialist eDNA laboratory. A total of 25 locations where sampled (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Collaborator Andrew Harrington collecting a water sample with a 500ml sterile bottle at one of the sampling sites in Spain.

Five samples from an undisclosed mink enclosure where also taken to be used as positive controls in

the laboratory step. These samples were collected following the same protocol with a negative control

taken at the same time. A total of 264 samples were collected which included 240 field samples, 5 samples from the mink enclosure and 19 field blanks. Two field blanks were missed on the 17th of October and 10 replicates were missed from the 17th of October at Rivers Balsa Channel and Zadorra Lbaia within UTM3.

2.3 Camera Traps

50 camera traps were deployed in total along the 25 sampling points, two cameras at each point pointing towards the water. Two different models were used, Bushnell Trophy Cam HD and Browning Strike Force HD Pro X. Each camera was set to record still images over 10 days, which would coincide with the eDNA sampling. The cameras were fastened to stakes or trees and baited with sardines which was replenished five days later. The positioning and use of bait was to try and accurately record images of both *M. lutreola* and *N. vison*. Teams from the VWT went through the camera trap image data to identify any species captured. Excel spreadsheets were created of the findings to be later analysed.



Figure 3. Maps of the 5 UTM squares with the 5 rivers sampled. **A)** UTM square 1, rivers Tiron, Ea-Tiron and Oja. **B)** UTM square 2, rivers Ebro and Zadorra. **C)** UTM square 3, rivers Ebro and Najerilla **D)** UTM square 4, rivers Balsa channel, Alegria and Zadorra Lbaia. **E)** UTM square 5, river Leza

2.4 eDNA extraction

DNA extractions were carried out over the months of July and August of 2020. The University of Salford houses a specialised eDNA extraction room which is sterilised daily with UV lights for 2 – 6 hours. Full body protection is worn to prevent potential contamination from the extractors. DNA was extracted from the filters using the mu-DNA water Protocol v. 0219 (Sellers et al., 2018). At the 'Wash' stage 600µl of solution was added to the spin column, rather than the proposed 500µl due to previous University of Salford researchers' recommendations. The Lysis solution, Flocculant solution, Binding

solution, Wash solution and Elution buffer were made by myself and other colleges in the eDNA laboratory. To account for in laboratory contamination one laboratory blank, containing only buffer, was incorporated into the extraction process each day, for a total of 12 extraction blanks, meaning 252 samples were extracted in total. Field blanks were extracted first, followed by the field samples and finally the captive mink samples to limit possible DNA contamination. As contamination risk is high extensive cleaning was taken at each extraction step as prevention (work stations were cleaned with 10% bleach and 70 % ethanol and equipment was placed in a UV Stratalinker® before and after use).

Eluted DNA was frozen at -20 °C before being thawed for the amplification stage. The extracted eDNA amplified was using the MiMammal 12S primer set (MiMammal-U-F, 5'-GGGTTGGTAAATTTCGTGCCAGC-3'; MiMammal-U-R, 5'-CATAGTGGGGTATCTAATCCCAGTTTG-3'; Ushio et al., 2017) targeting a ~170 base pair (bp) amplicon from a variable region of the 12 rRNA mitochondrial gene with six base sample-specific multiplex identifier (MIDs) tags. The MID tags contained wobble / degenerate bases to increase variation; these bases would be discarded in the bioinformatic stage. The total samples (including blanks) where split into four libraries for the PCR stage. Each PCR reaction was replicated 3 times per sample. Five PCR positive controls were incorporated to account for tag switching due to the non-target species not occurring in the northeastern area of Spain (the control contained 0.05ng/µL faecal sample from Northern muriqui, Brachyteles hypoxanthus) and four negative controls (ddH₂0) per PCR plate (Broadhurst et al., 2021). 20µL of product, containing 2 µL of extracted DNA, 2µL of forward and reverse MiMammal primers (1 μ L of forward, 1 μ L of reverse), 16 μ L of premixed PCR master mix containing 5.84 μ L of H₂0, 0.16 μ L of Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 10µL of Amplitaq, was loaded into the PCR machine. After the 10 minutes of initialisation at 95°C the thermal cycle profile ran 40 times denaturing at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 60°C for 45 seconds, elongating at 72°C for 30 seconds. The final elongation ran at 72°C for 5 minutes to ensure and single stranded DNA was fully extended before cooling at 10°C. 1.5% agarose gels were prepared to confirm successful amplification: 2 μ L of DNA was stained with 1 µL loading buffer for visualisation and run alongside 3µL of HyperLadder 1kb which was electrophoresed for one hour at 70V. PCR triplicates are then pooled together into four libraries. A left-sided size selection targeting product under 245~ base pairs was performed using 1.1x Agencourt AMPure XP (Beckman Coulter) and Dual-Index adapters (Illumina) were added to each library using KAPA HyperPrep kit (Roche). Libraries where then quantified using NEBNext qPCR quantification kits to ensure DNA concentration was between 8 – 12nM. The four libraries were run on over two sequencing runs: library 1 and 2 in the first run and library 3 and 4 in the second run. 120 samples, 10 field blanks (nine in library 2), eight extractions blanks, eight negative controls (nine in library 2), 10 positive controls, and four replicates of captive samples, were run equalling a total of 380 total samples. Each library was run at a final molarity of 9 pM on a multiplex Illumina Miseq v2 Reagent V2 Kit paired-end reads (as detailed in Sales 2020a and Broadhust et al., 2021).

2.5 Bioinformatics analysis

The final libraries read data quality was first tested using FastQC (Andrews 2010). The libraries were individually run through a bioinformatics pipeline using OBITools metabarcoding package (Boyer et al., 2016). Forward and reverse pair-end sequences were then aligned using illumine pair-end, and dataset was demultiplexed to sort sequences by sample location using ngsfilter. Sequence length was filtered to consist of reads between 160 – 190 base pairs due to the target length being ~170bp; obigrep was used to remove reads with ambiguous bases. Obiunique clustered identical sequences and chimera removal was done using vsearch (Rognes et al., 2016) using uchinme-denovo (Edgar et al., 2011). Reads were then clustered with SWARM (Mahé et al. 2015) and a taxonomic assignment conducted using ecotag (Sales et al., 2020; Broadhurst et al., 2021). An output of CSV files contained the molecular operational taxonomic units (MOTUs) with a taxonomic assignment. Additional filtering steps were added to remove sequencing errors to avoid false positives (Broadhurst et al., 2021). The rate of tag-jumping between amplicons (Schnell et al., 2015) was calculated by dividing the total number of positive control (PC) reads (*B. hypoxanthus*) found in 'real' eDNA samples by the total

number of PC reads in the PC samples. The percentage frequency was then deducted from every sample and the PC reads where removed using R-Studio v4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020). In total 0.04%, 0.0001%, 0.03% and 0.008% of reads were deducted from each library respectively (Table. 2). To account for potential contamination, the maximum number of reads recorded in the negative controls (including field blanks, extraction blank or distilled water used in the PCR reaction) were removed from every sample. Lastly, non-target MOTUs were removed from the data set. This includes nonmammal species, human and domestic species. This ultimately led the decision to remove potential 'Boar' and 'Wolf' reads from the data set, although these species are both native in north-eastern Spain, the sequences are indistinguishable from that of domestic pig and domestic dogs at this short 12S fragment. Samples with <5 reads overall were also excluded from the final data set. MOTUs that were identified to a >0.97 match to a species in the custom UK database were included (Broadhurst et al., 2021 & Sales et al., 2020a). A decision was made to include the Southern water vole (Arvicola sapidus), genet (Genetta servalina), Granada hare (Lepus granatensis), European harvest mouse (Micromys minutus) and the aquatic mole (Talpa Aquitania) despite the match being below the defined threshold above (0.93, 0.95, 0.95, 0.94 and 0.94 respectively). The inclusion of these species was due to the high number of reads in the samples, similarly, seen in Lyet et al. (2021). These species had a low threshold due to incomplete databases which subsequently leads to species being missed as they are filtered out so were included in this study for community accuracies (Leempoel et al., 2020). Each species was checked with Genbank to ensure correct species identification.

2.6 Statistical analysis

R-Studio v4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020) was the main analytical tool used to analyse the data. QGIS 3.13.3 (QGIS Development Team, 2021) was used to create the maps of the sampling locations. Coordinates collected by the VWT team at each sampling location in the field were imported on to a map within QGIS. An overall map was created of the capturing the whole sampling location (Figure 1) as well as individual maps of each UTM square (Figure 3).

iNEXT (Chao et al., 2014) was used to create species accumulation per site (Figure 5) for both sampling occasions and the combined sampling effort. A species accumulation was also created for carnivore detections by combining eDNA and camera trap data (figure 10A & B). rGGplot2 (Wickham, 2016) was used to create bubble charts which showed the number of reads recorded at each sampling location for the carnivore species.

The unmarked package (Fiske & Chandler, 2011) created occupancy and detection probabilities for carnivore detection using both eDNA and camera traps as a comparison method (Table 4). The decision was made to combine the two eDNA sampling session results together to get a more accurate overall picture of the mammalian biodiversity in the area. As the camera traps were deployed for a minimum of 10 days at each site it was decided to treat one day as one detection event compared to one eDNA replicate for a direct comparison, i.e. a unit of surveying efficiency is represented by one eDNA replicate and one day of camera trap surveying (Rich et al., 2016). The rationale behind this decision is that 10 days of camera traps and 10 replicates were recorded at each location so direct comparison would not be appropriate given the different sampling effort. MacKenzie et al. (2002) single species occupancy model was applied to the data where only presence and absence data was gathered from the eDNA replicates and camera trap dates (MacKenzie et al., 2017). Following Sales et al. (2020a) analysis with the assumptions of the carnivore species presence or absence being a constant within the sampling period then it represents a 'true' occupancy status at the time of sampling. The unmarked package was used to create occupancy data for the multi-site occupancy models for each carnivore species using both eDNA data, camera trap data and the data combined.

3. Results

3.1 eDNA species detection and filtered reads

The MiSeq sequencing run produced 4762101, 5253351, 5293162 and 3823069 reads per library respectfully, totalling 19131683 reads overall. After filtering the final read count reduced to 5032263 (Table 2). A total of 24 species were identified from the overall sampling efforts. 18 species were detected in the first sampling session and 22 identified in the second sampling session, only *Capreolus capreolus* and *Lepus granatensis* were not detected in the second sampling session (Table 2 and Figure

4).

Table 2. Number of reads after each filtering step to remove percentage of potential tag-switching, non-target species and potential contaminations for each library.

	Library 1	Library 2	Library 3	Library 4
Tag switching percentage	0.04632	0.00011	0.03125	0.00763
Reads before filtering	4762101	5253351	5293162	3823069
Reads after tag switching % removal	4495235	5030138	4990828	3637988
Reads after positive control removal	4493980	5030112	4990823	3637986
Reads after negative control removal	4249829	4781590	4602351	3317367
Reads after selecting mammals only	3494214	4213161	4205877	2580022
Reads after human reads removal	1967269	1947145	2899004	2155556
Reads after removing domestic animals (Sus,	586877	624674	2098206	1821916
Bos, Felis, Ovis, Canis and Capra)				
Reads with >0.98 identification and less than	277094*	426140	592177	914981
5 reads removal				
Reads with identified species under 0.98	564460	604291	2058926	1804586
identification**				

*Manually removed 18 reads from Library 1 due to potential contamination of European water vole, *Arvicola amphibius. Original final reads 277112.*

**Library 1 and 2 species with 0.97 identification, Library 3 species with 0.95, 0.94 and 0.93 and Library 4 species with 0.94 and 0.93 identification.

Overall eDNA was able to detect species from most conservation status (according to the IUCN global classification). 19 least concern species (*Vulpes vulpes, Meles meles, Mustela nivalis, Genetta servalina, Castor fiber, Apodemus flavicollis, Rattus norvegicus, Mus musculus, Glis glis, Myodes glareolus, Mus spretus, Apodemus sylvaticus, Micromys minutus, Crocidura russula, Sorex araneus,*

Lepus granatensis, Cervus elaphus, Capreolus capreolus and *Dama dama*), one vulnerable species (*Arvicola sapidue*), two near threatened species (*Lutra lutra* and *Oryctolagus cuniculus*) and one critically endangered species (*Mustela lutreola*) (Table 3). One species (*Talpa Aquitania*) does not have a status as it was only recently described (Nicolas et al., 2016).

Five different orders were identified. Rodentia was the order with the greatest number of species detected (10). The majority of the Rodentia are categorised as least concern with one species classified as vulnerable, *Arvicola sapidue*. The next largest order detected was Carnivora with six identified species. Artiodactyl and Eulipotyphla orders both had three species, and two species were identified in the Lagomorpha order (Table 3).

Order	Scientific name	Common name	IUCN status	Sampling session 1	Sampling session 2
	Vulpes vulpes	Red fox	LC	1	1
	Mustela lutreola	European mink	CR	1	1
	Meles meles	European badger	LC	1	1
Carnivora	Lutra lutra	Eurasian otter	NT	1	1
	Mustela nivalis	Least weasel	LC	0	1
	Genetta servalina	Genet	LC	0	1
	Castor fiber	Eurasian beaver	LC	1	1
	Apodemus flavicollis	Yellow-necked mouse	LC	1	1
	Rattus norvegicus	Brown rat	LC	1	1
	Mus musculus	House mouse	LC	1	1
Rodentia	Glis glis	Edible dormouse	LC	0	1
	Arvicola sapidue	Southern water vole	VU	1	1
	Myodes glareolus	Bank vole	LC	1	1
	Mus spretus	Algerian mouse	LC	1	1
	Apodemus sylvaticus	Long-tailed wood mouse	LC	1	1
	Micromys minutus	Eurasian harvest mouse	LC	1	1
	Crocidura russula	Greater white-toothed shrew	LC	1	1
Eulipotyphla	Sorex araneus	Common shrew	LC	0	1
	Talpa aquitania	Aquatic mole	NA	0	1
Lagomorpha	Oryctolagus cuniculus	European rabbit	NT	1	1
	Lepus granatensis	Granada hare	LC	1	0
	Cervus elaphus	Red deer	LC	1	1
Artiodactyl	Capreolus capreolus	Roe deer	LC	1	0
	Dama dama	Fallow deer	LC	0	1

Table 3. Species detected using eDNA over two sampling periods. 1 is given if the species is detected in at least one out of the replicates taken, 0 is given if the species is undetected. IUCN status (LC = Least concern, NT = near threatened, VU = vulnerable, CR = critically endangered).





Figure 4. Species detection per sampling site using eDNA metabarcoding from sampling session one (pink) and sampling session two (blue).

Viewing the species accumulation curves for the two sampling sessions for all species, sampling session two was more successful in recording more species, as it captured 22 out of the 24 overall recorded species (Figure 5, Table 3). Visually assessing the accumulation graph for all species, the first sampling session would need an increased sampling effort to record all species. As a combined sampling curve was created to look at species recorded when combining both sampling session it has been decided to use both sampling sessions as a whole data set as an appropriate amount of sampling and species detected.



Figure 5. Species accumulation curve for all mammalian species identified using eDNA at each site.

Bubble charts for carnivore species detection over the two sampling sessions show differences in both species detected and amount of reads from each species (Figure 8 and 9). The initial observation is the number of species detected per session, with only four carnivores being detected in the first sampling session: red fox (*V. vulpes*), European mink (*M. lutreola*), badger (*M. meles*), and Eurasian otter (*L. lutra*), over 11 of the 25 sites (Figure 4 and Figure 8). Six species were identified in the second sampling session (Figure 4 and Figure 8), these include the four carnivores detected in sampling

session one plus the least weasel (*Mustela nivallis*) and genet (*Genetta servalina*). These six carnivores were detected in 13 of the 25 sites.

Multiple carnivore species were recorded at rivers Tiron 1 (two species), Ea-Tiron 2 (four species), Tiron 3 (four species), Ebro 1 (two species), Najerilla 5 (three species), Algeria 3 (four species), Zadorria Lbaia 4 (two species), Leza 2 (four species), Leza 3 (two species) and Leza 4 (three species) across both sampling sessions. The only carnivore species that were recorded in the same location on both sampling sessions were *V. vulpes* at site Tiron 3, *M. lutreola* and *M. meles* at site Algeria 3, all other readings were only gathered from one of the sampling sessions. (Figure 6).

The bubble charts also visually demonstrate the amount of sequence reads recorded in each sampling site, overall, more reads were gathered from sampling session two (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Bubble chart of eDNA sequence reads of identified carnivore species from both sampling sessions. Sampling sites 1-5 are withing UTM1, site 6 - 10 are withing UTM2, sites 11 - 15 are withing UTM3, sites 16 - 20 are within UTM 4 and sites 21 - 25 are within UTM5.

3.2 Camera trap species detection

10 days of camera trap images where analysed and the species identified by the VWT. Most of the animals identified could not be identified down to specific species level so were described as 'groups'. Three orders were identified from the animals named; Carnivora (eight groups), Rodentia (three groups), Artiodactyl (two groups) and an 'unsure' species group (for animals where the image was not clear enough to identify). Within the Carnivora order the groups are not as defined, for example there is three mink categories; American mink, European mink, and 'unsure' mink where species level was unable to be identified (Table 3).

Order	Species detected	UTM1	UTM2	UTM3	UTM4	UTM5
	Genet	1	1	1	1	1
	Marten	1	1	1	0	1
	American mink	0	0	0	1	0
	European mink	1	0	0	1	1
Carnivora	Unsure mink	1	0	1	1	1
	Otter	1	1	1	0	1
	Fox	1	0	0	1	1
	Weasel	0	1	0	0	0
	Small rodent	1	1	1	1	1
	(Rat/mouse/vole/shrew)					
Rodentia	Beaver	1	0	1	0	1
	Squirrel	0	0	1	0	1
Artiodactyl	Boar	0	0	1	1	0
-	Deer	1	0	0	1	1
	Unsure	1	1	1	1	1

Table 4. Species detected from 10 days of camera trap recording within the 5 UTM squares. 1 is given if the species is detected in at least one of the 10 days in each UTM square, 0 is given if the species is undetected. Unsure mink is a category created when the mink species could not be determined.

Within the Carnivora order seven species/groups where identified: genet, marten, American mink, European mink, otter, fox, and weasel. ('unsure mink' is not classified as its own species as it would either by *M. lutreola* or *N. vison*.) Within the Rodentia order three groups of species are identified: small rodent, beaver, and squirrel. 'Small rodent' groups rats, mice, voles, shrews, and similar animals together. This is due to the difficulty in identifying small animals on the camera correctly. Two groups are identified in artiodactyl, deer, and boar. Deer and marten were not defined to species level.

3.3 Carnivore species detection

Overall, eight carnivore species were detected using both detection methods: European badger (*M. meles*), Eurasian otter (*L. lutra*), least weasel (*M. nivalis*), red fox (*V. vulpes*), genet (*G. servilas*), marten (*Martes*, only defined to genus level), European mink (*M. lutreola*) and American mink (*N. vision*). *M. meles* was only detected with eDNA and *N. vison* and *martes* were only detected with camera traps (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Venn diagram showing carnivore species detected using the different detection methods, eDNA and Camera trap.

On initial visual representation of the two methods (eDNA and camera traps) recording carnivore species, there is more data for the camera traps (Figure 9). *V. vulpes* was recorded at 14 sampling points (out of the 25) using eDNA and five sampling points using camera traps, with three of the locations detecting *V. vulpes* with both methods: 2. Ea-Tiron, 3. Tiron 2 (UTM1) and 23. Leza 3 (UTM5). *M. nivalis* was detected at two locations using eDNA and one location by camera traps, all three recordings were in different UTM squares. *L. lutra* was recorded at eight locations using eDNA and 11 locations by camera traps. *L. lutra* was recorded with both methods at five locations; 1. Tiron 1 (UTM1), 15. Najerilla 3 (UTM3), 22. Leza 2, 24. Leza 4 and 25. Leza 5 (UTM 5). *L. lutra* was recorded by at least one of our sampling methods in each UTM square.

M. lutreola was identified at nine locations via eDNA and 12 locations with camera traps. Both methods detected *M. lutreola* at five locations; 2. Ea-Tiron (UTM 1), 18. Algeria and 19. Zadorra Lbaia

1 (UTM4) and 22. Leza 2 and 24. Leza 4 (UTM 5). *M. lutreola* was detected in four out of the five UTM squares. *G. servalina* was only detected once with eDNA but was captured multiple times with the camera traps and recorded at 19 locations. *G. servalina* was identified via both methods at site 3. Tiron 2 (UTM 1). *M. meles* was only recorded by eDNA, at seven sites throughout all the UTM squares. *N. vison* and *Martes* was only recorded by the camera traps. *N. vison* was only recorded once, at site 19. Zadorra Lbaia 1 (UTM 4). *Martes* was caught via camera at 12 locations (Figure 9).



Figure 8. Group of images of carnivores identified in the sampling area in Spain. A) European mink, Mustela lutreola E) Genet, Genetta servaline C) European mink, Mustela lutreola D) Eurasian otter, Lutra lutra.





Mustela lutreola

Mustela nivalis

Lutra lutra

Vulpes vulpes

Figure 9. Species detection per sampling site using eDNA metabarcoding results from the combined sampling sessions equalling 10 replicates (green) and 10 days of camera traps (purple).

Carnivore species richness was compared using the combined sampling eDNA data and the camera trap data, 10 days of imaging compared to 10 samples taken. When samples are combined more species are detected and as the curve has not plateaued more sampling would be needed to record all carnivores (10B).



Figure 10. A) eDNA and camera trap species accumulation curves for Carnivore species B) eDNA, CT and combined sampling for carnivore species.

3.4 Carnivore occupancy and detection probability

Site occupancy and detection probability for each carnivore species was calculated using the total 10 eDNA replicates taken from each site compared to the 10 days of camera trap images per site using the unmarked packaged (Fiske & Chandler, 2011). Detection probabilities for carnivores were low continuously, all under 0.30 (Table. 5). *G. servalina* had an eDNA detection probability of 0 as it was only detected in one replicate out of the 250 taken. In comparison, the camera traps detection probability was 0.26 as it was detected in 48 out of the 250 days sampled. *V. vulpes* and *M. meles* also had low eDNA detection probabilities, 0.01 and 0.03 due to only being detected in 30 and 8 replicates, respectively. Although *V. vulpes* had 30 detections there was typically only one detection per site. *M. lutreola* and *M. nivallis* had similar detection probabilities of 0.12 and 0.10, respectively. However, *M.*

lutreola had a higher rate of detections (17 out of 250) compared to *M. nivallis* (3 put of 250). This again is due to where the detections were, *M. nivallis* three detections were from two different sites whereas *M. lutreola* detections were from nine different sites. *L. lutra* had the highest eDNA detection probability of 0.23, although only 17 detections were recorded most of them where from the same sites.

In comparison camera trap detection probabilities were either equal or slightly higher than eDNA overall. The largest difference is with *G. servalina*. Detection probability for camera traps ranged from 0 to 0.33 in comparisons to eDNAs detection probabilities ranging from 0 – 0.23. *V. vulpes* had the same detection probability for both sampling techniques (0.01), were as detection probabilities for *M. lutreola*, *L. lutra* and *M. nivallis* were all higher when using camera trap data (0.20, 0.27 and 0.11 respectively). However, the confidence intervals overlap considerably with all species with camera traps and eDNA detections. *M. nivallis* and *L. lutra* confidence intervals only had a 0.01 difference between the two methods and *M. lutreola* had a difference of 0.06. The largest difference was for *G. servalina* with a difference of 0.29. *M. meles* was not detected using camera traps and there is also no direct comparison for *Martes* and *N. vison* as they were not detected via eDNA. Camera trap detection probabilities for these species were 0.33 and 0, respectively. *Martes* was detected in 39 out of 250 days, within 12 of the sites. *N. vision* was only detected once on the camera traps (Table 5). As direct comparisons could not be made *M. meles*, *N. vison* and *Martes* were removed from Table 5.

Table 5. Estimated site occupancy and detection probabilities for each carnivore species, with 95% confidence intervals, from eDNA metabarcoding data from

 the total 10 replicates from each of the 25 sites and 10 days of camera trap data, individual and combined, created using unmarked (Fiske & Chandler, 2011).

	Occupancy					y	
Species	Common name	eDNA	Camera Trap	Combined	eDNA	Camera Trap	Combined
Vulpes vulpes	Red fox	1 (0-1)	1 (0-1)	1 (0-1)	0.01 (0.00 – 0.04)	0.01 (0.00 – 0.04)	0.02 (0.01 – 0.03)
Mustela lutreola	European mink	0.58 (0.19 – 0.89)	0.48 (0.25 – 0.72)	0.55 (0.33 – 0.79)	0.12 (0.05 – 0.26)	0.20 (0.11 – 0.32)	0.14 (0.08 – 0.21)
Lutra lutra	Eurasian otter	0.27 (0.12 – 0.49)	0.47 (0.28 – 0.67)	0.42 (0.28 – 0.58)	0.23 (0.13 – 0.38)	0.27 (0.18 – 0.37)	0.21 (0.16 – 0.29)
Mustela nivallis	Least weasel	0.13 (0.02 – 0.52)	0.1 (0.02 – 0.50)	0.11 (0.04 – 0.28)	0.10 (0.02 – 0.44)	0.11 (0.02 – 0.45)	0.13 (0.05 – 0.32)
Genetta servalina	Genet	0.99 (0 - 1)	0.77 (0.53 – 0.91)	0.41 (0.27 – 0.56)	0 (0.00 – 0.05)	0.26 (0.19 – 0.34)	0.24 (0.18 – 0.31)

4. Discussion

Although recent eDNA studies are showing success in detecting mammalian communities overall, the detection of carnivores using eDNA metabarcoding is a notable exception (Thomsen et al., 2012; Harper et al., 2019; Sales et al., 2020a; Leempoel et al., 2020; Broadhurst et al., 2021). This small-scale study has been successful at detecting 24 mammals, six belonging to the order carnivora. We show how temporal sampling increases the detection probabilities of this difficult-to-detect group with eDNA (Figure 3). eDNA metabarcoding can create a larger snapshot of the mammalian community present when compared to camera trapping alone, particularly when camera trapping is only focusing on specific species. eDNA metabarcoding provided comparable detections for most carnivore species and the adoption of both methods leads to an overall increase in detections at the landscape scale.

4.1 Mammalian community presence and absence

Here we see that the use of traditional methods detects a fraction of the mammals when compared to eDNA metabarcoding. eDNA metabarcoding identified 24 species from five different orders, while camera traps only identified three orders with 12 'categories' of animals detected. *N. vison* and *M. lutreola* were identified from the camera trap images by specialists at the VWT. A small handful of the categorised animals were defined to species level due to known historical data of species in the area, for example 'otter' can be defined to *L. lutra* due to only one species occurring in Spain but 'marten' cannot be identified to a specific species due to there being no distinguishing features being noted on the camera trap data and there being at least two species of marten in Spain (*M. martes* and *M. foina*). The difficulty in 'traditional' species detection was highlighted in the 'small rodent' category as this encompassed 'rat, mouse, voles and shrew'. The VWT researchers' decision to group small rodents together was due to the difficulty in identifying similar looking species which leads to a high level of misidentification, or, as the original study was focusing on *N. vison* and *M. lutreola*, there was not a necessity to accurately identify small rodents (Meek et al., 2017). To successfully detect and identify

small rodents, the addition of baited camera trap boxes can be used to collect clear and precise images (Littlewood et al., 2021). When comparing the sampling effort, eDNA metabarcoding exceeds camera traps for species detection. However, when examining the eDNA data, the differences within the two sampling sessions is stark with far more species detected in the second sampling session. In the first sampling session there is one unique species, *Lepus granatensis*. In the second sampling session there is six unique species detected, from four orders. M. nivalis and G. servalina from Carnivora, Glis glis from Rodentia, Sorex quitan and Talpa quitania from Eulipotyphia and Dama dama from the order Artiodactyl (Table 2.). It has been recommended that more effort or samples may been needed to accurately represent the overall biodiversity when using eDNA (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Lyet et al., 2021). These results highlight the increased accuracy of results when temporal sampling is used. We can argue that increased effort does not have to mean larger quantities, in size or amount, of samples in a sampling period but instead repeated sampling in short succession. Looking at the whole mammalian community, the combined results of both sampling periods have a higher number of species than either sampling session alone (Figure 6). Temporal seasonality changes in eDNA results have shown variation in species detection which can give useful insights into the biodiversity fluctuations for monitoring (Lacoursière-Roussel et al., 2018). However, short-term temporal resampling studies, like this, have shown greater representation in the overall recorded biodiversity (Beentjes et al., 2019). The first sampling session only identified 18 out of the 24 species compared to the second sampling session where 22 species were identified (table 2). Both sampling sessions were important to gain a better understanding of species community within the area, each sampling session identified species in all five orders, but a richer picture of the community was built with the data combined. The higher number of detections found in sampling session two could have also been due to the excess of rainfall after the first sampling session (R. Hannify, pers. comm.) which would have washed DNA from the surrounding area into the water system, explaining why so many carnivores were detected in the second sampling session (Lyet et al., 2021; Staley et al., 2021).

Species richness and abundance influence the shape of species accumulation curves (Thompson & Withers, 2003). Species that are infrequently recorded will cause long, upwards slope lines indicating more 'trapping' is required (Thompson & Withers, 2003). We can see this reflected in the overall mammalian eDNA data curve. More species were captured in the second sampling session, however more sampling could have led to more species identified which would have plateaued the curve (figure 6).

The second sampling session resulted in a greater amount of sequence data for the carnivores, which we can see by the larger bubbles which represents the amount of reads for carnivores found at each location (figure 8). Comparing the number of carnivore species detected by each sampling method we see more species were recorded by the camera traps (seven species or 'categories') than eDNA sampling (five species; Figure 4). Figure 10A shows the curve has plateaued for eDNA sampling but has not for camera traps indicating more sampling would need to be undertaken to capture all species, similarly when the methods are combined the curve still has not plateaued (figure 10B). Using species accumulation curves based on trapping (camera traps and eDNA sampling in this case) would be more accurate as there would be no observer bias in species recording (Colwell & Coddington, 1994). Thompson et al. (2003) found that species accumulation curves were useful to compare the estimated species richness between given sites; Broadhurst et al., (2021) looked at species accumulation curves split between orders within the sampling area. Here, species accumulation curves were used to compare richness estimates between two sampling methods. The results of this study show that even with the eDNA sampling supplementing 'traditional' methods more sampling would be required to capture all carnivores. Overall using both methods together would create a more rounded picture of the carnivores for the area.

43

4.2 Carnivore community presence and absence

With this small-scale study we have been able to show the validity of eDNA metabarcoding in the detection of carnivorous species in the north-eastern region of Spain. The large home ranges and behavioural ecology of carnivores is often reported as the reason for low eDNA reads within mammalian metabarcoding (Lyet et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020a; Harper et al., 2019; Thompson et al., 2012). False negatives can occur due to the behavioural ecology of carnivorous species as they may not be active in the study area during the time of sampling. Species with large home ranges, such as carnivores, highlight the importance of temporal and spatial sampling as multiple sampling points may be required to detect rare/carnivorous species. eDNA degradation, seasonality affecting species behaviour and habitat variation all impacted the spatio-temporal reliability when sampling whiteclawed crayfish (Troth et al., 2021). To target specific species additional sampling, both spatially and temporally, may be required to get reliable detections (Sales et al., 2020a). Lyet et al. (2021) have suggested sampling after heavy rainfall or after snow melts that cause more terrestrial DNA to enter the water, which theoretically would lead to a higher detection of carnivores based on successful soilderived eDNA results (Leempoel et al., 2020). In this study, sampling session two was conducted after rain fall and the results showed a higher portion of mammals were detected than before the rainfall (Table 3).

Strictly terrestrial carnivores may only have contact with water for activities such as bathing and drinking which could explain why *G. servalina* was captured by the camera traps so frequently (19 out of the 25 sites) but was only identified in one eDNA sample (Harper et al., 2019; Lyet et al., 2021). Solitary species' DNA have been found to degrade at a higher rate to that of group living species in a laboratory setting, due to the amount of DNA secreted, which could also explain the low carnivore detection rates (Williams et al., 2018). Although, as stated by Williams et al. (2018), measurement of the environmental variability was not applied to the study so further research is needed to see if the

degradation of single species DNA is an important factor. DNA degradation rates will have important conservation implications if eDNA is the sole use for monitoring newly invasive or rare/solitary species.

Notably, *L. lutra* has the largest number of reads out of the carnivore species (Figure 6). This species has been difficult to detect in other mammalian eDNA studies (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020a; Harper et al., 2019) but has been much more regularly detected here. As this species lives a semi-aquatic lifestyle the assumption is that more DNA would be detected in the water. *L. lutra* reads have been noted to have weaker signals than other semi-aquatic mammals (Harper et al., 2019). Here *L. lutra* visually has the largest proportion of reads of any carnivore, semi-aquatic or terrestrial (Figure 6). Although some of *L. lutra*'s behaviour may not lead to DNA shed in the water, as territory marking and spraints are often done outside the water (Mason & Macdonald, 1986), there was evidence during the eDNA sampling of crayfish carcasses around the water edge which would imply that *L. lutra* was hunting and eating in the water (Barrientos et al., 2014). *L. lutra* was detected in both sampling. However as biotic and abiotic factors were not monitored within this study eDNA results can not accurately be interpreted into abundance (Tillotson et al., 2018). However, this study demonstrates that the application of eDNA for monitoring otters holds more promise than previous studies have shown (Broadhurst et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020a; Harper et al., 2019).

V. vulpes, a strictly terrestrial carnivore, is found in relatively high abundance consistently throughout the sampling area (Figure 6). Lyet et al. (2021) found that omnivorous predators were more likely to be detected than strict carnivores during the time of sampling. We found this to be true when comparing the omnivorous predators (*V. vulpes, M. meles,* and *M. lutreola*) to strict carnivores (*M. nivallis*). *G. servalina* (omnivore) and *L. lutra* (carnivore) however, did not fit with this trend.

M. meles was detected by eDNA (seven out of 25 sites) but was not detected by the camera traps once. These results reflect the findings from Broadhurst et al. (2021) where *M. meles* was detected regularly (seven sites out of 25 also). Although *M. meles* can swim, they often chose not to do so and

this may mean that they do not come in close contact with the water often (Sleeman et al., 2009). This could explain its absence on the camera traps. Despite their preference to avoid water, DNA was excreted by or carried to the rivers, which could account for the higher number of reads recorded in the second sampling session after heavy rainfall (Figure 6; Lyet et al., 2021). For the original study the VWT positioned 50 camera traps around water ways as their main aim was to capture semi-aquatic species (*M. lutreola* and *N. vison*). Despite using two cameras at each site the placement of the study species can influence other species detection, if the cameras are low and facing the water there is a chance that some terrestrial species will not be captured, which could be true for *M. meles* (Leempoel et al., 2020; Sales et al., 2020a; Hofmeester et al., 2019).

One bias for high carnivore detection rates we see within this study, which is not replicated in other mammalian eDNA studies, is the use of bait. As the original study with the VWT was actively trying to capture mink they had all 50 camera traps baited with sardines to encourage sightings. This may explain why so many carnivores were detected with eDNA as they would be attracted to the water's edge by the bait. However, this would not explain the absence of some species on the camera traps. As we were not testing to see if bait attracted any of the carnivores preferentially, we cannot determine if this influenced the eDNA results. *M. lutreola* was detected at 4 out of the 5 UTM squares with either camera trap or eDNA, with no detections recorded at UTM 2 (sites 6 - 10; Figure 9). Five out of the 16 positive detected *M. lutreola* at UTM 3 (sites 11 - 15; Figure 9). As the original study with the VWT was to see if eDNA was comparable to camera traps these results show that eDNA can perform well in comparison to the camera traps for *M. lutreola* detections.

One of the advantages of using eDNA metabarcoding for species identification is the accuracy which some traditional methods cannot achieve (Leempoel et al., 2020). In this study, five carnivorous species were identified with a >0.98 sequence match (one species at 0.95) with one of these species not identified by the camera traps. Camera traps recorded seven carnivorous 'groups' of animals, with only five of these identified to species level and two to family name (*Martes* and *Mustela*, common

46

name marten and weasel) (Figure 4). With species declines being one of the biggest concerns of this era, accurate species identification is of paramount importance. eDNA could provide early detection (or absence) of endangered species which could impact how plans will be made for the conservation of species.

N. vison was not recorded by eDNA sampling and was caught on only one occasion by the camera traps. The species was not detected during concurrent live trapping either (M. Podra, pers. comm). Broadhurst et al. (2021) has presented similar results where N. vison was detected once via eDNA at one site in an area that was known to be at the edge of a N. vison eradication zone. Our results could explain why there was no reads from this species if it was scarcely in the area. Browett et al. (2020) highlighted the potential of using eDNA as an early detector for invasive species and both the results from this study and Broadhurst et al. (2021) could have large conservation implications as positive and negative detections of an invasive species was made. However, as N. vison was not amplified in this study, specific research into invasive species may want to use a species-specific qPCR or digital PCR (ddPCR) assay to avoid any 'species masking' which may occur with low reads (Harper et al., 2018). Another explanation could be inaccurate identification from the camera traps. One of the most common errors in data collection from most traditional methods is the misidentification of a species, especially when there are two species that look extremely similar, such as N. vison and M. lutreola. N. vison and M. lutreola have few distinguishing features to tell them apart, N. vison is slightly larger with a white marking on the chin whilst *M. lutreola* has the white mark on the chin which extends up above the mouth, to get an accurate identification of the mink species a clear image of the face needs to be captured. This process of identification can, understandably, lead to misidentification with blurry images or body images, when identifying mink species within this study an 'unsure mink' category was made for the images where an identification could not be made. This method of identification can lead to both false positive and negatives. Research into L. lutra and N. vison cohabitation has found that N. visons has a generalist and opportunistic diet has meant that they can share similar niches. L. lutras prowess in the water means their diet can stay mainly aquatic whilst N. vison can hunt terrestrial

47

prey as well. *N. vison* may not have been detected using eDNA due to its current hunting habits and number of otters (Harper et al., 2020). *N. vison* has been reported to shift their food preference to terrestrial prey during the winter months which could coincide with rising otter densities (Bonesi and Macdonald, 2004). As the sampling for this study was conducted in November, seasonality could be important when trying to detect species such as *N. vison*.

Lyet et al. (2021) recommend filtering a larger volume of water to capture the carnivore community presence/absence more accurately, whilst noting that it would however increase both the cost and manpower needed. Lyet et al. (2021) hypothesised that a larger volume of filtered water is necessary to capture all species in the community accurately, however both this study and the one conducted by Broadhurst et al. (2021) only filtered 500ml per replicate and were still able to collect abundant data for the mammalian community, with both studies able to identify five orders compared to Lyet et al. (2021) with four orders. The functionality of filtering larger amounts of water will start to push eDNA into exclusivity, with the increased costs and challenges of filtering larger amounts requiring more specialist equipment. This means that it becomes more difficult to conduct eDNA studies that are more accessible (for example to citizen scientists). This would also alter the standardisation for eDNA studies if it was recommended to filter larger quantities, but some researchers are only able to filter small quantities. From the results of this study, we were able to gather data on a wide variety of species from five orders using only 500ml of filtered water per replicate (2.5 L per sampling site at each visit). For future studies an approach with more emphasis on temporal sampling to capture the carnivorous community would be recommended.

More emphasis on seasonality, species behaviour ecology and diet may need to be considered when trying to detect carnivores as these have been highlighted as potential causes of low/no reads and/or detections within eDNA mammalian studies (Sales et al., 2019; Harper et al., 2019; Leempoel et al., 2020; Broadhurst et al., 2021; Lyet et al., 2021). This study showed the importance of short scale temporal studies, especially within carnivore detection as only four species were detected in the first sampling session compared to the second sampling session where six were detected (Table 2).

4.3 Carnivore occupancy modelling

When comparing the two-sampling methods, occupancy modelling can provide an unbiased method of taking imperfect data with variation to account for species occurrence (MacKenzie et al., 2002). Direct comparisons can be made from the two sampling methods in this study of multiple species simultaneously (Sales et al., 2020a; Broadhurst et al., 2021). For the comparisons M. meles and N. vison were not included as they were not detected with both camera traps and eDNA sampling. The probability of detecting the remaining carnivores (V. vulpes, M. lutreola, L. lutra, M. nivallis and G. servalina) was higher overall for the camera traps (Table 4). The largest difference in detection probabilities between the two methods occurred in the detection of G. servalina and M. lutreola. However, when considering the confidence intervals with the two methods there is overlap in the results for *M. lutreola* but not for *G. servalina*, this is due to only being detected in one eDNA replicate out of 250 but having multiple captures on the camera traps (Table 4). Similar detection probabilities for camera traps and eDNA were found in the remaining carnivores, again with large overlap in the confidence intervals. Sales et al. (2020a) found the eDNA outperformed camera traps in detection probabilities in three focal species, however these were not carnivorous species, in their small-scale study. Broadhurst et al. (2021) found that detection probabilities for three comparable carnivorous species had similar results in two of the species, V. vulpes and L. lutra, however there was a higher detection probability found for M. nivallis. Broadhurst et al. (2021) found that eDNA detection probabilities for carnivores ranged from 0.01 to 0.80 whereas the ranges for this study were considerably less, 0.01 - 0.27 (Table 4). Results were generally comparable however for most, with one species (*N. vision*) skewing the results from Broadhurst et al. (2021).

Per each UTM square, both monitoring methods would be required to capture all eight carnivore species. UTM 2 did not record any of the carnivorous species with both camera traps and eDNA (Figure 9). Removing camera trap data would mean both *N. vison* and *Martes* would not be identified, similarly relying on only camera trap data would mean *M. meles* would have been missed. A recommendation of eDNA sampling to supplement camera trap data for monitoring carnivore species would be made at this stage as the use of only one of the monitoring methods would mean less species detections overall (Sales et al., 2020a; Abrams et al., 2019).

Large home ranges are often assumed to be the main reason for lack of carnivore eDNA detections and recommendations to sample larger areas are standard, however we have shown how a multisampling approach that incorporates different environmental conditions can accumulate results for carnivore detections. Although camera trap detection probabilities were overall higher than eDNA for carnivores, we would recommend a combination of methods to gain better overall data on the community. As this study was focusing on a semi-aquatic carnivore, the camera traps were positioned to reflect this thus failing to account for the heterogeneous landscape and capturing other terrestrial species. As this was not the aim of this study, future studies looking into carnivore eDNA will want to place cameras in different habitats to account for the different lifestyle of individual carnivore species.

5. Conclusion and future suggestions

This study demonstrates the power of eDNA when sampling semi-aquatic and terrestrial species and shows how more precise species identification can be made in comparison to traditional methods (Table 2 and 3). The success in detecting carnivores within this study demonstrates how the multisampling approach is beneficial when attempting to detect large-ranging, solitary species (Ficetola et al., 2008). There are recommendations to sample larger quantities of water with the aim of detecting more species (Lyet et al., 2021), however we effectively detected multiple mammals using smaller quantities per site. We recommend rather than sampling larger quantities of water, numerous sampling sessions could be carried out. Frequent sampling will accurately account for abiotic factors that may be affecting detection, as well as possibly allowing for monitoring of population fluctuations. The standardisation of eDNA methodology and the use of citizen science would allow for long-term biodiversity monitoring of mammals and those harder to detect groups, such as carnivores. Standardisation of eDNA sampling will make for a more robust and comparable monitoring technique (Harper et al., 2018). eDNA outperformed camera traps on the mammalian monitoring overall. Although camera traps outperformed eDNA when specifically looking at carnivore detections using the combined methods would see the most reliable results for mammalian species monitoring. An important factor to consider in future eDNA studies is the lack of accurate sequences available in public databases (Axtner et al., 2019). Although the threshold for this study for accurate identification was >0.98 manual identification found four species below this threshold at 0.93, 0.94, 0.95 and 0.97. Leempoel et al. (2020) found 59% of mammals were missing from the 12S database with 33% of these having no genus level sister species. 62% of missing carnivore species also had no sister species which could explain why there is an absence in carnivore detections within other mammalian eDNA studies. The incompleteness of the database means there is a high possibility of false species absences noted with other eDNA studies (Jackman et al., 2021; Sales et al., 2020b). Building a global, comprehensive DNA database will drastically improve the quality of future eDNA studies. Projects such as 'DNAmark',

a national DNA reference database for species found in Denmark, is contributing towards a global database which will enrich future DNA biodiversity monitoring (Margaryan et al., 2020).

Acknowledgements

I would like to give a huge thank you to my supervisor, A. McDevitt, for his wisdom, guidance, and humour which without I would not have made it this far. To my other wonderful colleges, N. Sales, H. Broadhurst, L. Gregory, I cannot thank you enough for your support and knowledge in steering me through the early stages of eDNA and bioinformatics. Without you all I don't think I would have kept my sanity. A special thank you to my two amazing colleges and friends, J. Lavin and S. Browett for the many hours we spent in the lab together slowly working through our 100s of samples. Thank you for your encouragement, jokes, and strength throughout this journey. To the whole research team, to many to name, thank you for everything also.

I would also like to say thank you to my amazing family; my mum, dad, and sisters, who kept supporting me during all my highs and lows even when we were separated for months. And to my good friend J. Dahl who had to often cook for me, motivate me and moan with me throughout this process, thank you very much. Finally, this thesis is dedicated to my grandad Ronnie, who after a funny mix up at a bookstore when I was born came home with a book 'authored' by me. I told him I would one day give him something that I had actually written and although he wasn't able to see my final work, I know he would be very proud.

References

Abramov, A.V., Kranz, A., Herrero, J., Choudhury, A. & Maran, T. 2016. *Martes foina*. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T29672A45202514. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T29672A45202514.en</u>. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Abrams, J.F., Hörig, L.A., Brozovic, R., Axtner, J., Crampton-Platt, A., Mohamed, A., Wong, S.T., Sollmann, R., Yu, D.W. and Wilting, A., 2019. Shifting up a gear with iDNA: From mammal detection events to standardised surveys. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *56*(7), pp.1637-1648. *Applied Ecology*, *57*(4), pp.707-716.

Andrews, S. (2010). FastQC: A Quality Control Tool for High Throughput Sequence Data [Online]. Available online at: <u>http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/</u>

Avila, I.C., Kaschner, K. and Dormann, C.F., 2018. Current global risks to marine mammals: taking stock of the threats. *Biological Conservation*, *221*, pp.44-58.

Barnes, M.A., Turner, C.R., Jerde, C.L., Renshaw, M.A., Chadderton, W.L. and Lodge, D.M., 2014. Environmental conditions influence eDNA persistence in aquatic systems. *Environmental Science & technology*, *48*(3), pp.1819-1827.

Barrientos, R., Merino-Aguirre, R., Fletcher, D.H. and Almeida, D., 2014. Eurasian otters modify their trophic niche after the introduction of non-native prey in Mediterranean fresh waters. *Biological invasions*, *16*(8), pp.1573-1579.

Beebe, S.C., Howell, T.J. and Bennett, P.C., 2016. Using scent detection dogs in conservation settings: a review of scientific literature regarding their selection. *Frontiers in veterinary science*, *3*, p.96.

Beentjes, K.K., Speksnijder, A.G., Schilthuizen, M., Hoogeveen, M. and van der Hoorn, B.B., 2019. The effects of spatial and temporal replicate sampling on eDNA metabarcoding. *PeerJ*, *7*, p.e7335.

Bennett, E.M., Hauser, C.E. and Moore, J.L., 2020. Evaluating conservation dogs in the search for rare species. *Conservation Biology*, *34*(2), pp.314-325.

Biggs, J., Ewald, N., Valentini, A., Gaboriaud, C., Dejean, T., Griffiths, R.A., Foster, J., Wilkinson, J.W., Arnell, A., Brotherton, P. and Williams, P., 2015. Using eDNA to develop a national citizen sciencebased monitoring programme for the great crested newt (*Triturus cristatus*). *Biological Conservation*, *183*, pp.19-28.

Birks, J., Messenger, J., Braithwaite, T., Davison, A., Brookes, R. and Strachan, C., 2005. Are scat surveys a reliable method for assessing distribution and population status of pine martens?. In *Martens and fishers (Martes) in human-altered environments* (pp. 235-252). Springer, Boston, MA.

Bisi, F., Newey, S., Nodari, M., Wauters, L.A., Harrison, A., Thirgood, S. and Martinoli, A., 2011. The strong and the hungry: bias in capture methods for mountain hares *Lepus timidus*. *Wildlife Biology*, *17*(3), pp.311-316.

Blair, W.F., 1941. Techniques for the study of mammal populations. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 22(2), pp.148-157.

Bonesi, L. and Macdonald, D.W., 2004. Impact of released Eurasian otters on a population of American mink: a test using an experimental approach. *Oikos*, *106*(1), pp.9-18.

Bonesi, L. and Palazon, S., 2007. The American mink in Europe: status, impacts, and control. *Biological conservation*, *134*(4), pp.470-483.

Boitani, L., Phillips, M. & Jhala, Y. 2018. *Canis lupus* (errata version published in 2020). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2018: e.T3746A163508960. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T3746A163508960.en</u>. Accessed on 30 December 2021.

Boyer, F., Mercier, C., Bonin, A., Le Bras, Y., Taberlet, P. and Coissac, E., 2016. obitools: A unix-inspired software package for DNA metabarcoding. *Molecular ecology resources*, *16*(1), pp.176-182.

Broadhurst, H.A., Gregory, L.M., Bleakley, E.K., Perkins, J.C., Lavin, J.V., Bolton, P., Browett, S.S., Howe, C.V., Singleton, N., Tansley, D., Sales, N.G. and McDevitt, A.D. 2021. Mapping differences in mammalian distributions and diversity using environmental DNA from rivers. *Science of the Total Environment*, *801*, pp.149724.

Brodie, J.F., Williams, S. and Garner, B., 2021. The decline of mammal functional and evolutionary diversity worldwide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(3).

Browett, S.S., O'Meara, D.B. and McDevitt, A.D., 2020. Genetic tools in the management of invasive mammals: recent trends and future perspectives. *Mammal Review*, *50*(2), pp.200-210.

Capdevila-Argüelles, L. and Zilletti, B., 2000. Invasive species of the Iberian Peninsula: The vertebrates. *Assessment and management of alien species that threaten ecosystems, habitats and species*, p.111.

Castro-Arellano, I., Madrid-Luna, C, Lacher Jr, T.E. and Leon-Paniagua, L., 2008. Hair-trap efficacy for detecting mammalian carnivores in the tropics. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 72(6), pp.1405-1412.

Chandler, M., See, L., Copas, K., Bonde, A.M., López, B.C., Danielsen, F., Legind, J.K., Masinde, S., Miller-Rushing, A.J., Newman, G. and Rosemartin, A., 2017. Contribution of citizen science towards international biodiversity monitoring. *Biological conservation*, *213*, pp.280-294.

Chao, A., Gotelli, N.J., Hsieh, T.C., Sander, E.L., Ma, K.H., Colwell, R.K. and Ellison, A.M., 2014. Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. *Ecological monographs*, *84*(1), pp.45-67.

Chiron, F., Hein, S., Chargé, R., Julliard, R., Martin, L., Roguet, A. and Jacob, J., 2018. Validation of hair tubes for small mammal population studies. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *99*(2), pp.478-485.

Collen, B., Pettorelli, N., Baillie, J.E. and Durant, S.M. eds., 2013. *Biodiversity monitoring and conservation: bridging the gap between global commitment and local action*. John Wiley & Sons.

Colwell, R.K. and Coddington, J.A., 1994. Estimating terrestrial biodiversity through extrapolation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 345(1311), pp.101-118.

Convention on Biological Diversity. (2021). Aichi Biodiversity Targets. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cbd.int/sp/targets/</u>

Cove, M.V., Kays, R., Bontrager, H., Bresnan, C., Lasky, M., Frerichs, T., Klann, R., Lee Jr, T.E., Crockett, S.C., Crupi, A.P. and Weiss, K.C., 2021. SNAPSHOT USA 2019: a coordinated national camera trap survey of the United States.

Cristescu, R.H., Foley, E., Markula, A., Jackson, G., Jones, D. and Frere, C., 2015. Accuracy and efficiency of detection dogs: a powerful new tool for koala conservation and management. *Scientific Reports*, *5*(1), pp.1-6.

Cutler, T.L. and Swann, D.E., 1999. Using remote photography in wildlife ecology: a review. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, pp.571-581.

Das, S., Dutta, S., Sen, S., Babu, S., Kumara, H.N. and Singh, M., 2014. Identifying regions for conservation of sloth bears through occupancy modelling in north-eastern Karnataka, India. *Ursus*, pp.111-120.

Davis, A.J., McCreary, R., Psiropoulos, J., Brennan, G., Cox, T., Partin, A. and Pepin, K.M., 2018. Quantifying site-level usage and certainty of absence for an invasive species through occupancy analysis of camera-trap data. *Biological invasions*, *20*(4), pp.877-890.

Davidson, A., Birks, J.D., Brookes, R.C., Braithwaite, T.C. and Messenger, J.E., 2002. On the origin of faeces: morphological versus molecular methods for surveying rare carnivores from their scats. *Journal of Zoology*, *257*(2), pp.141-143.

Deiner, K., Bik, H.M., Mächler, E., Seymour, M., Lacoursière-Roussel, A., Altermatt, F., Creer, S., Bista, I., Lodge, D.M., De Vere, N. and Pfrender, M.E., 2017. Environmental DNA metabarcoding: Transforming how we survey animal and plant communities. *Molecular ecology*, *26*(21), pp.5872-5895.

Dejean, T., Valentini, A., Miquel, C., Taberlet, P., Bellemain, E. and Miaud, C., 2012. Improved detection of an alien invasive species through environmental DNA barcoding: the example of the American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus*. *Journal of applied ecology*, *49*(4), pp.953-959.

Do, R., Shonfield, J. and McAdam, A.G., 2013. Reducing accidental shrew mortality associated with small-mammal livetrapping II: a field experiment with bait supplementation. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *94*(4), pp.754-760.

Do Linh San, E., Maddock, A.H., Gaubert, P. & Palomares, F. 2016. *Herpestes ichneumon. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T41613A45207211. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T41613A45207211.en</u>. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Duenas, M.A., Hemming, D.J., Roberts, A. and Diaz-Soltero, H., 2021. The threat of invasive species to IUCN-listed critically endangered species: A systematic review. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, p.e01476.

Edgar, R.C., Haas, B.J., Clemente, J.C., Quince, C. and Knight, R., 2011. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. *Bioinformatics*, *27*(16), pp.2194-2200.

Evrard, J.O. and Bacon, B.R., 1998. Duck trapping success and mortality using four trap designs. *North American Bird Bander*, 23(4).

Ficetola, G.F., Miaud, C., Pompanon, F. and Taberlet, P., 2008. Species detection using environmental DNA from water samples. *Biology letters*, *4*(4), pp.423-425.

Fiske, I. and Chandler, R., 2011. Unmarked: an R package for fitting hierarchical models of wildlife occurrence and abundance. *Journal of statistical software*, 43(10), pp.1-23.

Franklin, T.W., McKelvey, K.S., Golding, J.D., Mason, D.H., Dysthe, J.C., Pilgrim, K.L., Squires, J.R., Aubry, K.B., Long, R.A., Greaves, S.E. and Raley, C.M., 2019. Using environmental DNA methods to improve winter surveys for rare carnivores: DNA from snow and improved noninvasive techniques. *Biological Conservation*, *229*, pp.50-58.

Grimm-Seyfarth, A., Zarzycka, A., Nitz, T., Heynig, L., Weissheimer, N., Lampa, S. and Klenke, R., 2019. Performance of detection dogs and visual searches for scat detection and discrimination amongst related species with identical diets. *Nature Conservation*, *37*, p.81.

Harper, L.R., Buxton, A.S., Rees, H.C., Bruce, K., Brys, R., Halfmaerten, D., Read, D.S., Watson, H.V., Sayer, C.D., Jones, E.P. and Priestley, V., 2019. Prospects and challenges of environmental DNA (eDNA) monitoring in freshwater ponds. *Hydrobiologia*, *826*(1), pp.25-41.

Harper, L.R., Watson, H.V., Donnelly, R., Hampshire, R., Sayer, C.D., Breithaupt, T. and Hänfling, B., 2020. Using DNA metabarcoding to investigate diet and niche partitioning in the native European otter (*Lutra lutra*) and invasive American mink (*Neovison vison*). *bioRxiv*.

Harrington, L.A., Harrington, A.L., Hughes, J., Stirling, D. and Macdonald, D.W., 2010. The accuracy of scat identification in distribution surveys: American mink, *Neovison vison*, in the northern highlands of Scotland. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, *56*(3), pp.377-384.

Herrero, J. and Cavallini, P. 2007. *Genetta genetta*. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2007: e.T41698A10521935. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Herrero, J., Kranz, A., Skumatov, D., Abramov, A.V., Maran, T. & Monakhov, V.G. 2016. Martesmartes. TheIUCNRedListofThreatenedSpecies 2016:e.T12848A45199169.https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T12848A45199169.enDownloaded on 13 August 2021.

Hoffmann, M. & Sillero-Zubiri, C. 2021. Vulpes vulpes (amended version of 2016 assessment). TheIUCNRedListofThreatenedSpecies 2021:e.T23062A193903628. https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2021-1.RLTS.T23062A193903628.enDownloaded on 13 August 2021.

Hofmeester, T.R., Cromsigt, J.P., Odden, J., Andrén, H., Kindberg, J. and Linnell, J.D., 2019. Framing pictures: A conceptual framework to identify and correct for biases in detection probability of camera traps enabling multi-species comparison. *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(4), pp.2320-2336.

Hunter, M.E., Oyler-McCance, S.J., Dorazio, R.M., Fike, J.A., Smith, B.J., Hunter, C.T., Reed, R.N. and Hart, K.M., 2015. Environmental DNA (eDNA) sampling improves occurrence and detection estimates of invasive Burmese pythons. *PloS one*, *10*(4), p.e0121655.

IUCNRedList,2021.SummaryStatistics.Retrievedfrom:https://www.iucnredlist.org/resources/summary-statistics#Summary%20Tables

IUCN,2013.Spain'sbiodiversityatrisk,Acallforaction.https://www.iucn.org/sites/dev/files/content/documents/spain_s_biodiversity_at_risk_factsheet_may2013.pdfpp 1-4

IUCN Red List, 2021. Summary Statistics. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.iucnredlist.org/resources/summary-statistics#Summary%20Tables</u>

Jackman, J.M., Benvenuto, C., Coscia, I., Oliveira Carvalho, C., Ready, J.S., Boubli, J.P., Magnusson, W.E., McDevitt, A.D. and Guimarães Sales, N., 2021. eDNA in a bottleneck: obstacles to fish metabarcoding studies in megadiverse freshwater systems. *Environmental DNA*, pp 837-849.

Keane, A., Hobinjatovo, T., Razafimanahaka, H.J., Jenkins, R.K.B. and Jones, J.P.G., 2012. The potential of occupancy modelling as a tool for monitoring wild primate populations. *Animal Conservation*, *15*(5), pp.457-465.

Kerley, L.L., 2010. Using dogs for tiger conservation and research. *Integrative zoology*, 5(4), pp.390-396.

Kessler, E.J., Ash, K.T., Barratt, S.N., Larson, E.R. and Davis, M.A., 2020. Radiotelemetry reveals effects of upstream biomass and UV exposure on environmental DNA occupancy and detection for a large freshwater turtle. *Environmental DNA*, 2(1), pp.13-23.

Kim, W.M., Kim, S.Y., Park, I.S., Lee, H.J., Kim, K.T., Kim, Y., Kim, H.J., Kwak, M.H., Lim, T.Y., Park, C. and Song, W.K., 2020. Review and application of environmental DNA (eDNA) investigation of terrestrial species in urban ecosystem. *Journal of the Korean Society of Environmental Restoration Technology*, *23*(2), pp.69-89.

Kranz, A., Abramov, A.V., Herrero, J. & Maran, T. 2016. *Meles meles. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T29673A45203002. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T29673A45203002.en</u>. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Lacoursière-Roussel, A., Howland, K., Normandeau, E., Grey, E.K., Archambault, P., Deiner, K., Lodge, D.M., Hernandez, C., Leduc, N. and Bernatchez, L., 2018. eDNA metabarcoding as a new surveillance approach for coastal Arctic biodiversity. *Ecology and evolution*, *8*(16), pp.7763-7777.

Leempoel, K., Hebert, T. and Hadly, E.A., 2020. A comparison of eDNA to camera trapping for assessment of terrestrial mammal diversity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 287(1918), p.20192353.

Lindenmayer, D.B., Gibbons, P., Bourke, M.A.X., Burgman, M., Dickman, C.R., Ferrier, S., Fitzsimons, J., Freudenberger, D., Garnett, S.T., Groves, C. and Hobbs, R.J., 2012. Improving biodiversity monitoring. *Austral Ecology*, *37*(3), pp.285-294.

Littlewood, N.A., Hancock, M.H., Newey, S., Shackelford, G. and Toney, R., 2021. Use of a novel camera trapping approach to measure small mammal responses to peatland restoration. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, *67*(1), pp.1-10.

Lodge, D.M., Turner, C.R., Jerde, C.L., Barnes, M.A., Chadderton, L., Egan, S.P., Feder, J.L., Mahon, A.R. and Pfrender, M.E., 2012. Conservation in a cup of water: estimating biodiversity and population abundance from environmental DNA. *Molecular ecology*, *21*(11), pp.2555-2558.

Long, R.A., Donovan, T.M., Mackay, P., Zielinski, W.J. and Buzas, J.S., 2007. Effectiveness of scat detection dogs for detecting forest carnivores. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *71*(6), pp.2007-2017.

Liu, L., Li, Y., Li, S., Hu, N., He, Y., Pong, R., Lin, D., Lu, L. and Law, M., 2012. Comparison of next-generation sequencing systems. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2012.

Lyet, A., Pellissier, L., Valentini, A., Dejean, T., Hehmeyer, A. and Naidoo, R., 2021. eDNA sampled from stream networks correlates with camera trap detection rates of terrestrial mammals. *Scientific reports*, *11*(1), pp.1-14.

Mahé, F., Rognes, T., Quince, C., de Vargas, C. and Dunthorn, M., 2015. Swarm v2: highly-scalable and high-resolution amplicon clustering. *PeerJ*, *3*, p.e1420.

MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Lachman, G.B., Droege, S., Andrew Royle, J. and Langtimm, C.A., 2002. Estimating site occupancy rates when detection probabilities are less than one. *Ecology*, *83*(8), pp.2248-2255.

MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Royle, J.A., Pollock, K.H., Bailey, L. and Hines, J.E., 2017. Occupancy estimation and modeling: inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence. Elsevier.

Maiorano, L., Amori, G., Capula, M., Falcucci, A., Masi, M., Montemaggiori, A., Pottier, J., Psomas, A., Rondinini, C., Russo, D. and Zimmermann, N.E., 2013. Threats from climate change to terrestrial vertebrate hotspots in Europe. *PLoS One*, *8*(9), p.e74989.

Maran, T. and Henttonen, H., 1995, January. Why is the European mink (*Mustela lutreola*) disappearing? A review of the process and hypotheses. In *Annales Zoologici Fennici* (pp. 47-54). Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board.

Maran, T., Skumatov, D., Gomez, A., Põdra, M., Abramov, A.V. & Dinets, V. 2016. Mustela lutreola. TheIUCNRedListofThreatenedSpecies 2016:e.T14018A45199861.https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T14018A45199861.en.Downloaded on 27 June 2021.

Maran, T., Skumatov, D., Palazón, S., Gomez, A., Põdra, M., Saveljev, A., Kranz, A., Libois, R. and Aulagnier, S., 2011. *Mustela lutreola*. *The IUCN Red List of threatened species*, p.13.

Mason, C.F. and Macdonald, S.M., 1986. *Otters: ecology and conservation*. Cambridge University Press.

McDevitt, A.D., Sales, N.G., Browett, S.S., Sparnenn, A.O., Mariani, S., Wangensteen, O.S., Coscia, I. and Benvenuto, C., 2019. Environmental DNA metabarcoding as an effective and rapid tool for fish monitoring in canals. *Journal of fish biology*, *95*(2), pp.679-682.

McDonald, R.A., Abramov, A.V., Stubbe, M., Herrero, J., Maran, T., Tikhonov, A., Cavallini, P., Kranz, A., Giannatos, G., Krytufek, B. & Reid, F. 2019. *Mustela nivalis* (amended version of 2016 assessment). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2019: e.T70207409A147993366. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T70207409A147993366.en</u>. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

McLellan, B.N., Proctor, M.F., Huber, D. & Michel, S. 2017. Ursus arctos (amended version of 2017 assessment). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2017: e.T41688A121229971. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-</u> <u>3.RLTS.T41688A121229971.en</u>. Accessed on 30 December 2021.

Meek, P.D., Vernes, K. and Falzon, G., 2013. On the reliability of expert identification of small-medium sized mammals from camera trap photos. *Wildlife Biology in Practice*, *9*(2), pp.1-19.

Melovski, D., von Arx, M., Avukatov, V., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., Đurović, M., Elezi, R., Gimenez, O., Hoxha, B., Hristovski, S., Ivanov, G. and Karamanlidis, A.A., 2020. Using questionnaire surveys and occupancy modelling to identify conservation priorities for the Critically Endangered Balkan lynx *Lynx lynx balcanicus. Oryx*, *54*(5), pp.706-714.

Miya, M., Sato, Y., Fukunaga, T., Sado, T., Poulsen, J.Y., Sato, K., Minamoto, T., Yamamoto, S., Yamanaka, H., Araki, H. and Kondoh, M., 2015. MiFish, a set of universal PCR primers for metabarcoding environmental DNA from fishes: detection of more than 230 subtropical marine species. *Royal Society open science*, *2*(7), p.150088.

Monterroso, P., Castro, D., Silva, T.L., Ferreras, P., Godinho, R. and Alves, P.C., 2013. Factors affecting the (in) accuracy of mammalian mesocarnivore scat identification in South-western Europe. *Journal of Zoology*, *289*(4), pp.243-250.

Nicolas, V., Martinez-Vargas, J. and Hugot, J.P., 2016. Preliminary note: *Talpa aquitania* nov. sp.(Talpidae, Soricomorpha) a new mole species from southwest France and north Spain. *Bulletin de l'Academie Veterinaire de France*.

Pawlowski, J., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L. and Altermatt, F., 2020. Environmental DNA: What's behind the term? Clarifying the terminology and recommendations for its future use in biomonitoring. *Molecular Ecology*, *29*(22), pp.4258-4264.

Põdra, M., Gómez, A. and Palazón, S., 2013. Do American mink kill European mink? Cautionary message for future recovery efforts. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, *59*(3), pp.431-440.

Põdra, M. and Gómez, A., 2018. Rapid expansion of the American mink poses a serious threat to the European mink in Spain. *Mammalia*, 82(6), pp.580-588.

QGIS Development Team (2021). QGIS Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. <u>http://qgis.osgeo.org</u>

R Core Team. (2020). A language and environment for statistical computing, R foundation for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria. Available from URL: www.R-project.org/. Accessed January 2021

Rees, H.C., Maddison, B.C., Middleditch, D.J., Patmore, J.R. and Gough, K.C., 2014. The detection of aquatic animal species using environmental DNA–a review of eDNA as a survey tool in ecology. *Journal of applied ecology*, *51*(5), pp.1450-1459.

Rich, L.N., Miller, D.A., Robinson, H.S., McNutt, J.W. and Kelly, M.J., 2016. Using camera trapping and hierarchical occupancy modelling to evaluate the spatial ecology of an African mammal community. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *53*(4), pp.1225-1235.

Rodgers, T.W. and Mock, K.E., 2015. Drinking water as a source of environmental DNA for the detection of terrestrial wildlife species. *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 7(3), pp.693

Rodríguez, A. & Calzada, J. 2015. *Lynx pardinus* (errata version published in 2020). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2015: e.T12520A174111773. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2015-2.RLTS.T12520A174111773.en</u>. Downloaded on 27 June 2021.

Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C. and Mahé, F., 2016. VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ*, *4*, p.e2584.

Romanowski, G., Lorenz, M.G. and Wackernagel, W., 1993. Plasmid DNA in a groundwater aquifer microcosm-adsorption, DNAase resistance and natural genetic transformation of Bacillus subtilis. *Molecular ecology*, 2(3), pp.171-181.

Roos, A., Loy, A., de Silva, P., Hajkova, P. & Zemanová, B. 2015. *Lutra lutra*. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2015: e.T12419A21935287. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2015-2.RLTS.T12419A21935287.en</u>. Downloaded on 27 June 2021.

Roussel, J.M., Paillisson, J.M., Treguier, A. and Petit, E., 2015. The downside of eDNA as a survey tool in water bodies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *52*(4), pp.823-826.

Ruiz-Olmo, J. and Gosálbez, J., 1997. Observations on the sprainting behaviour of the otter Lutra lutra in the NE Spain. *Acta Theriologica*, *4*2(3), pp.259-270.

Sales, N.G., Kaizer, M.D.C., Coscia, I., Perkins, J.C., Highlands, A., Boubli, J.P., Magnusson, W.E., Da Silva, M.N.F., Benvenuto, C. and McDevitt, A.D., 2020b. Assessing the potential of environmental DNA metabarcoding for monitoring Neotropical mammals: a case study in the Amazon and Atlantic Forest, Brazil. *Mammal Review*, *50*(3), pp.221-225.

Sales, N.G., McKenzie, M.B., Drake, J., Harper, L.R., Browett, S.S., Coscia, I., Wangensteen, O.S., Baillie, C., Bryce, E., Dawson, D.A. and Ochu, E., 2020a. Fishing for mammals: Landscape-level monitoring of terrestrial and semi-aquatic communities using eDNA from riverine systems. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *57*(4), pp.707-716.

Sanderson, J.G. and Trolle, M., 2005. Monitoring elusive mammals: unattended cameras reveal secrets of some of the world's wildest places. *American Scientist*, *93*(2), pp.148-155.

Santulli, G., Palazón, S., Melero, Y., Gosálbez, J. and Lambin, X., 2014. Multi-season occupancy analysis reveals large scale competitive exclusion of the critically endangered European mink by the invasive non-native American mink in Spain. *Biological Conservation*, *176*, pp.21-29.

Schmelzle, M.C. and Kinziger, A.P., 2016. Using occupancy modelling to compare environmental DNA to traditional field methods for regional-scale monitoring of an endangered aquatic species. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *16*(4), pp.895-908.

Schmidt, B.R., Kery, M., Ursenbacher, S., Hyman, O.J. and Collins, J.P., 2013. Site occupancy models in the analysis of environmental DNA presence/absence surveys: a case study of an emerging amphibian pathogen. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *4*(7), pp.646-653.

Schnell, I.B., Sollmann, R., Calvignac-Spencer, S., Siddall, M.E., Douglas, W.Y., Wilting, A. and Gilbert, M.T.P., 2015. iDNA from terrestrial haematophagous leeches as a wildlife surveying and monitoring tool–prospects, pitfalls and avenues to be developed. *Frontiers in zoology*, *12*(1), pp.1-14.

Sellers, G.S., Di Muri, C., Gomez, A., & Hanfling, B. (2018). Mu-DNA: a modular universal DNA extraction method adaptable for a wide range of sample types. MBMG Metabarcoding and Metagenomics 2, 1-11. DOI: 10.3897/mbmg.2.24556.

Seymour, M., 2019. Rapid progression and future of environmental DNA research. *Communications biology*, 2(1), pp.1-3.

Seymour, M., Durance, I., Cosby, B.J., Ransom-Jones, E., Deiner, K., Ormerod, S.J., Colbourne, J.K., Wilgar, G., Carvalho, G.R., De Bruyn, M. and Edwards, F., 2018. Acidity promotes degradation of multi-species environmental DNA in lotic mesocosms. *Communications biology*, 1(1), pp.1-8.

Skumatov, D., Abramov, A.V., Herrero, J., Kitchener, A., Maran, T., Kranz, A., Sándor, A., Saveljev, A., Savour-Soubelet, A., Guinot-Ghestem, M., Zuberogoitia, I., Birks, J.D.S., Weber, A., Melisch, R. & Ruette, S. 2016. *Mustela putorius. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T41658A45214384. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-</u> 1.RLTS.T41658A45214384.en. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Sleeman, D.P., Davenport, J., More, S.J., Clegg, T.A., Griffin, J.M. and O'Boyle, I., 2009. The effectiveness of barriers to badger *Meles meles* immigration in the Irish Four Area project. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, *55*(3), pp.267-278.

Sutter, M. and Kinziger, A.P., 2019. Rangewide tidewater goby occupancy survey using environmental DNA. *Conservation genetics*, 20(3), pp.597-613.

Staley, Z.R., Chuong, J.D., Hill, S.J., Grabuski, J., Shokralla, S., Hajibabaei, M. and Edge, T.A., 2018. Fecal source tracking and eDNA profiling in an urban creek following an extreme rain event. *Scientific reports*, *8*(1), pp.1-12.

Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Brochmann, C. and Willerslev, E., 2012. Towards next-generation biodiversity assessment using DNA metabarcoding. *Molecular ecology*, *21*(8), pp.2045-2050.

Takahara, T., Minamoto, T. and Doi, H., 2013. Using environmental DNA to estimate the distribution of an invasive fish species in ponds. *PloS one*, *8*(2), p.e56584.

Temple, H.J. and Terry, A., 2007. The status and distribution of European mammals. *The status and distribution of European mammals*.

Troth, C.R., Sweet, M.J., Nightingale, J. and Burian, A., 2021. Seasonality, DNA degradation and spatial heterogeneity as drivers of eDNA detection dynamics. *Science of the Total Environment*, *768*, p.144466.

Piaggio, A.J., Engeman, R.M., Hopken, M.W., Humphrey, J.S., Keacher, K.L., Bruce, W.E. and Avery, M.L., 2014. Detecting an elusive invasive species: a diagnostic PCR to detect Burmese python in Florida waters and an assessment of persistence of environmental DNA. *Molecular ecology resources*, *14*(2), pp.374-380.

Thompson, G.G. and Withers, P.C., 2003. Effect of species richness and relative abundance on the shape of the species accumulation curve. *Austral Ecology*, *28*(4), pp.355-360.

Thomsen, P.F., Kielgast, J.O.S., Iversen, L.L., Wiuf, C., Rasmussen, M., Gilbert, M.T.P., Orlando, L. and Willerslev, E., 2012. Monitoring endangered freshwater biodiversity using environmental DNA. *Molecular ecology*, *21*(11), pp.2565-2573.

Thomsen, P.F. and Willerslev, E., 2015. Environmental DNA–An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity. *Biological conservation*, *183*, pp.4-18.

Timm, R., Cuarón, A.D., Reid, F., Helgen, K. & González-Maya, J.F. 2016. *Procyon lotor. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T41686A45216638. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T41686A45216638.en</u>. Downloaded on 13 August 2021.

Ushio, M., Fukuda, H., Inoue, T., Makoto, K., Kishida, O., Sato, K., Murata, K., Nikaido, M., Sado, T., Sato, Y. and Takeshita, M., 2017. Environmental DNA enables detection of terrestrial mammals from forest pond water. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *17*(6), pp.e63-e75.

Wearn, O.R. and Glover-Kapfer, P., 2019. Snap happy: camera traps are an effective sampling tool when compared with alternative methods. *Royal Society open science*, *6*(3), p.181748.

Wheat, R.E., Allen, J.M., Miller, S.D., Wilmers, C.C. and Levi, T., 2016. Environmental DNA from residual saliva for efficient noninvasive genetic monitoring of brown bears (*Ursus arctos*). *PLoS One*, *11*(11), p.e0165259.

Wickham, H., 2016. Programming with ggplot2. In ggplot2 (pp. 241-253). Springer, Cham.

Wilcox, T.M., Caragiulo, A., Dysthe, J.C., Franklin, T.W., Mason, D.H., McKelvey, K.S., Zarn, K.E. and Schwartz, M.K., 2021. Detection of Jaguar (*Panthera onca*) From Genetic Material in Drinking Water. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, p.289.

Williams, K.E., Huyvaert, K.P., Vercauteren, K.C., Davis, A.J. and Piaggio, A.J., 2018. Detection and persistence of environmental DNA from an invasive, terrestrial mammal. *Ecology and Evolution*, *8*(1), pp.688-695.

Yamaguchi, N., Kitchener, A., Driscoll, C. & Nussberger, B. 2015. *Felis silvestris. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2015: e.T60354712A50652361. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2015-2.RLTS.T60354712A50652361.en</u>. Downloaded on 04 October 2021.